

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2019

Relationship Between Regulatory Compliance Cost, Operation Cost, and Profitability of Credit Unions

Maher Shbaita Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Finance and Financial Management Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Maher Shbaita

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. David Blum, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. John Bryan, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Ify Diala, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2019

Abstract

Relationship Between Regulatory Compliance Cost, Operation Cost, and Profitability of

Credit Unions

by

Maher Shbaita

MBA, Our Lady of the Lake University, 2008

BS, Sam Houston State University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Abstract

The decline in the profitability of credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets harms the number of small credit unions available to serve local communities. Grounded in the financial intermediation theory, the purpose of this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability. The population of this study consisted of federally insured credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets and located in the state of Texas. Archival data from the National Credit Union Administration database were collected and analyzed. Multiple regression was used to identify a statistically significant predictive model, F(2, 49) =3.834, p = .028, $R^2 = .135$. The implications for positive social change include the potential for credit union managers to improve decision-making processes related to current and future operations and investments, which could increase profitability and contribute to the financial prosperity of employees, employees' families, communities, and local economies.

Relationship Between Regulatory Compliance Cost, Operation Cost, and Profitability of

Credit Unions

by

Maher Shbaita

MBA, Our Lady of the Lake University, 2008

BS, Sam Houston State University, 2006

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

December 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my parents who had always supported me and encouraged me to pursue my education. Their love and support have always touched my life. I also dedicate this study to my wife and daughters who have supported me during my doctoral study and have been understanding and patient. Thank you, God, for blessing me and my family and giving us the willpower during my doctoral study.

Acknowledgments

First, I thank God for giving me the ability, health, and blessings to pursue my doctoral study. My sincere appreciation goes to my lovely wife, Ferihan, for her continuous support, patience, and understanding. I would like to thank my beautiful daughters, Reem, Rana, Dena, and Noor, for their support and love. I would like to acknowledge my mentor, Dr. David Blum. Thank you, Dr. Blum, for your guidance, continuous support, and feedback. I would like to thank my second committee member, Dr. John Bryan, and university research reviewer, Dr. Ify Diala, for their support and valuable feedback. Also, I would like to thank the Walden faculty and my colleagues who were part of my doctoral journey by posting discussions in classes, giving feedback, or providing support.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	v
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Introduction	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	4
Hypotheses	4
Theoretical Framework	4
Operational Definitions	5
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	6
Assumptions	. 6
Limitations	. 6
Delimitations	. 7
Significance of the Study	7
Contribution to Businesses	. 7
Contribution to Positive Social Change	. 8
Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	8
Financial Intermediation Theory	10

Table of Contents

Independent Variables	
Dependent Variable	
Alternative Theories	
Credit Unions	41
Financial Performance	46
Transition	53
Section 2: The Project	54
Purpose Statement	54
Role of the Researcher	54
Participants	56
Research Method	58
Research Design	59
Population and Sampling	61
Population	61
Sampling	61
Ethical Research	63
Instrumentation	66
Data Collection Technique	69
Data Analysis	72
Study Validity	79
Transition and Summary	82
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	83

Introduction	83
Presentation of Findings	83
Tests of Assumptions	
Descriptive Statistics	
Inferential Results	
Application to Professional Practice	
Implications for Social Change	
Recommendations for Action	104
Recommendations for Further Research	105
Reflections	106
Conclusion	
References	110
Appendix A: Determining the Sample Size	147

List of Tables

Table 1. Statistics-Skewness	85
Table 2. Residuals Statistics	
Table 3. Pearson's Correlation Coefficient	
Table 4. Descriptive Statistics	
Table 5. Model Summary	
Table 6. Coefficients	
Table 7. Correlations	
Table 8. Model Summary-Regulatory Costs	
Table 9. Model Summary-Operation Costs	
Table 10. Coefficients Regulatory Costs	100
Table 11. Coefficients-Operation Costs	100

List of Figures

Figure 1. The histogram of regression standardized residual.	86
Figure 2. The normal P-P plot of regression standardized residual	87
Figure 3. A scatterplot of regression standardized residual.	88
Figure 4. A boxplot shows the outliers.	89
Figure 5. A scatterplot shows Cook's distance	91
Figure 6. A scatterplot shows the Mahalanobis distances.	92
Figure 7. Scatterplot of the independent variables.	94

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Introduction

Following the 2008 global financial crisis, business leaders, regulators, and scholars have become more aware of financial effects regulatory compliance and operation costs may have on the financial performance of organizations (Ned, 2017). Business leaders and policy makers should be mindful of the potential effects to organizations' financial performance, when introducing large scale financial regulations as the effects on financial performance and operation cost can vary depending on the size of firms (Ned, 2017). Researchers who have conducted studies about profitability and financial regulations have generated varied results (Lamb, Harper, Minnis, & Yun-Fang, 2013). The financial performance and government regulations of firms remain a concern for business leaders as these leaders attempt to optimize the financial performance of organizations (Elliehausen, 1998).

Background of the Problem

Credit unions play an important role by providing financial services to members and businesses in communities. Researchers have conducted studies about credit unions, the competitive changes in credit unions' industry, and challenges that could affect financial performances of credit unions (McKee & Kagan, 2016). According to Joo, Stoeberl, Liao, and Ke (2017), asset size of credit unions might be a factor in determining operating efficacy. Credit unions with more than \$10 million in assets performed better than credit unions with lower assets size (Joo et al., 2017). Credit unions with lower asset sizes face many barriers to increase efficiency of operation, reduce operating costs, and achieve members' growth (McKee & Kagan, 2016).

Problem Statement

In the United States, where the government mandates regulatory compliance for financial institutions, and the increase in operation and regulatory compliance costs affect profitability of credit unions, the number of credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets is declining (Joo et al., 2017). With the changing of government regulations, lower profitability, and the increase of operation costs of financial institutions in the United States, the number of credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets has decreased by 80% during the past 23 years (McKee & Kagan, 2016; NCUA, 2017). The general business problem that I addressed in this study was that the increasing costs of regulatory compliance with government regulations and the operating cost of noninterest transactions have reduced the profitability of some credit unions. The specific business problem that I addressed in this study was that some credit union managers do not understand the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operations cost, and profitability.

Purpose Statement

My purpose in this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The independent variables were regulatory compliance cost and operating cost and the dependent variable was profitability. The target population consisted of federally insured credit unions in the state of Texas. The implications for positive social change include that some credit union managers might improve decision-making processes related to current and future operations and investments, which could increase profitability and contribute to the financial prosperity of employees, employees' families, communities, and local economies.

Nature of the Study

Researchers use three methodologies to conduct studies (a) quantitative, (b) qualitative, and (c) mixed methods (Bryman & Bell, 2015). When using a quantitative method, researchers measure variables and statistically analyze numerical data (Gravetter & Forzano, 2015). In this study, I used the quantitative method. Researchers use qualitative to explore and describe human behaviors (Isaacs, 2014). The qualitative method was not appropriate for this study as I did not need to explore or describe human behaviors. The mixed method is a combination of quantitative and qualitative methodologies in the same study (Yilmaz, 2013). The mixed method was inappropriate for this study as I did not need to combine methods, because I only needed quantitative methodology to address the research question.

Researchers use a correlational design to answer research questions on the relationships between independent and dependent variables (Ballaro & Washington, 2016). The correlational design was appropriate for this study because I examined the significance of the relationship between independent and the dependent variables using statistical data. Researchers use an experimental design to examine cause-effect

relationships among a group of variables (Yilmaz, 2013). Researchers use the quasiexperimental design to determine the significance of cause-effect relationships among variables without manipulating independent variables (Reyes Liske & Holladay, 2016). The experimental design and the quasi-experimental designs were not appropriate for this study as the intent of my study was to examine the relationship between independent and dependent variables without manipulating variables or determining the significance of a cause-effect relationship.

Research Question

Does a linear relationship exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions?

Hypotheses

 H_0 : A significant linear relationship does not exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

 $H_{1:}$ A significant linear relationship does exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

Theoretical Framework

Financial intermediation theory (FIT) was the theoretical framework for the proposed study. Curley and Shaw (1960) developed FIT. Cuza (2009) stated that the FIT has a foundation in information asymmetry and method of regulation. Information asymmetry relates to the ability of management in some financial institutions in the United States to avoid adverse selection of poor-quality borrowers by screening clients' information, which relates to clients' ability to repay borrowed funds (Yu, 2015). The concepts of FIT are (a) information asymmetry in optimal time, (b) method of regulation, and (c) high transaction cost (Allen & Santomero, 1998). In many organizations, new regulations resulted in a multitude of individual compliance projects that consumed a large share of companies' available resources (Adams & Gramlich, 2016). Regulations have affected the function of financial intermediaries (Cuza, 2009). Information asymmetry and regulatory compliance could influence transaction costs, which could affect the profitability of credit unions (Cuza, 2009). FIT was suitable to this study as regulatory compliance cost and operation cost could affect the profitability of credit unions in the United States.

Operational Definitions

Corporate governance: A system designed to evaluate and balance the interests of stakeholders in firms, which could improve regulatory compliance (Filatotchev & Nakajima, 2014).

Financial intermediaries: Firms that borrow funds from consumers and lend to companies for investment (Baradwaj, Shao, & Dewally, 2016).

Financial performance: A measure of a firm uses of assets to generate profits (Klaassen & van Eeghen, 2014).

Information asymmetry: Exists as some information about a company is known only to certain parties and not to other uninformed parties (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017).

Noninterest income: Percentage of revenues derived from noninterest-generating sources (van Dalsem, 2017).

Return on assets (ROA): A profitability ratio measuring the income generated by all assets (Klaassen & van Eeghen, 2014).

Return on equity (ROE): An indicator of the financial performance of a firm at generating revenues from shareholder equity (Gugong, Kumai, & Bala, 2015).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are the facts a researcher holds as true without verifications or proof (Nkwake & Morrow, 2016). My first assumption was that the collected data from the archival databases of the national credit union administration (NCUA) was accurate and reliable. My second assumption was that the sample size of the study was enough to detect the significance of a relationship between the variables. My third assumption was that data and the financial reports obtained for this study adhered to regulatory requirements of the United States.

Limitations

Limitations are potential weaknesses of the study, which are out of the control of the researcher (Green, Tonidandel, & Cortina, 2016). A limitation of this study was that the target population consists of federally insured credit unions in the state of Texas, which might not represent all credit unions in the United States. The results of this study might not represent other industries as banks. Additional variables not mentioned in this study might affect the profitability of credit unions.

Delimitations

Delimitations are a researcher's boundaries to limit the scope of the study (Newman, Hitchcock, & Newman, 2015). A delimitation of this study was that I examined financial reports of federally insured credit unions in the state of Texas. I studied credit unions in the state of Texas with less than \$10 million in assets. I inspected past financial performances of credit unions rather than current performances and business practices of the credit unions. In this study, I examined only the relationship between variables not causation.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Businesses

This study's findings could be of value to business leaders through enabling credit union management to improve business profitability. Understanding the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability could assist management in decision-making and improving management's knowledge of possible future financial benefits. The findings of this study could also enable credit union managers to improve businesses practices by helping management gain knowledge of allocating valuable resources to increase profit and improve financial opportunities.

Contribution to Positive Social Change

The implication for positive social change includes assisting some credit union managers to improve decision-making processes related to current and future operations, investments to increase profitability, and contribute to the financial prosperity of employees, employees' families, communities, and the local economies. Findings of this study might help business leaders improve firms' financial performance and enhance firms' growth opportunities, which can benefit local communities by creating high paying jobs, thus improving families' financial positions, and help reduce the level of poverty.

Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

My purpose in the literature review was to gather related literature to provide a solid foundation for this study. A review of the professional and academic literature involves an in-depth inquiry of various sources as academic journals, financial reports, and dissertations. The gathered literature included 100 resources on FIT, financial performances of credit unions, and banks. In the literature review, I encompassed a critical analysis and synthesis of literature related to the theoretical framework and the study's variables, regulatory compliance cost, operations cost, and profitability of credit unions. In the literature review of this study, I used the Walden University library to gather 100 articles. In the literature review section, there were 89 (89%) peer-reviewed articles. There were 72 (72%) peer-reviewed articles that were published between 2015 and 2019. Peer-reviewed articles with more than 5 years of my study completion date were 11 (11%). There were six (6%) articles from government websites. In the literature

review, I referenced nine doctoral dissertations and two books. More than 85% of articles used in the literature review were within 5 years of my anticipated CAO completion date.

A search of the literature on the topic of the study included keywords related to the financial industry and the variables of the study as (a) corporate governance, (b) credit unions, (c) banks, and (d) financial institutions. I then searched for literature on FIT using key phrases as financial intermediaries and credit unions. Additional key phrases that were used in the search for FIT were (a) information asymmetry, (b) financial performance, (c) noninterest income, (d) return on assets, and (e) return on equity. My search for related literature was composed of inquiries in academic databases including ABI/INFORM complete, ScienceDirect Business, and ProQuest. The publishers used to search for article for this study were (a) World Scientific, (b) Emerald Insight, (c) SAGE, (d) Asers Publishing, (e) Bloomsbury Publishing, (f) PHI Learning, (g) Springer Publishing, (h) Lambert Academic Publishing, (i) Peerage of Science, and (k) EDP Sciences.

McKee and Kagan (2016) postulated that researchers have conducted multiple studies about credit unions and challenges that could affect financial performances of credit unions. Joo et al. (2017) stated that some small credit unions might face financial difficulties as asset sizes of some credit unions could affect profitability. Joo et al. (2017) and McKee and Kagan (2016) argued that credit unions with small assets sizes could face financial complications in achieving efficiency of operation. According to Cuza (2009), regulatory compliance could increase the operation costs of financial institutions. Eustache (2017) argued that regulatory compliance might increase operating costs of financial institutions, which could increase transaction costs and reduce profitability.

My purpose in this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The independent variables were regulatory compliance cost and operating cost and the dependent variable was profitability. Researchers use correlational studies to assess relationships between independent and dependent variables (Ballaro & Washington, 2016). Abdel-Razzaq (2018) claimed that FIT could help in postulating and testing the presumed interrelationships, which could improve the understanding of the phenomenon.

Financial Intermediation Theory

FIT was the theoretical framework for the proposed study. FIT highlights the role of financial intermediaries in the economy (Cuza, 2009). FIT was developed in the 1960s by Curley and Shaw (Cuza, 2009). According to Cuza (2009), the existence of financial intermediaries might be explained by (a) high transaction cost, (b) information asymmetry in optimal time, and (c) method of regulation. According to Cuza, high transaction costs could be influenced by markets' imperfections, which is generated by information asymmetry. High transaction costs could lead to higher fees on financial products (Kalu, Ambrose, & Augustine, 2018). The existence of financial intermediaries might reduce transaction costs on financial services (Cuza, 2009). According to Diamond (1984), information asymmetry is the assumption that when one party of a transaction could have more useful information than the other party, which could give one party more advantage over the outcome of the transaction. Information asymmetry and regulatory compliance could influence transaction costs (Cuza, 2009).

The presence of asymmetric information might increase transaction costs for clients when dealing with financial institutions (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). According to FIT's assumptions, the ability of financial intermediaries to specialize in gathering and assessing information about clients could reduce market imperfections, improve allocation of resources, and decrease the cost financial transactions (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). Regulations could affect the efficiency of some financial intermediaries, which could limit the ability of firms' managers from providing clients with competitive financial products (Cuza, 2009).-According to Obafemi (2012), banks are viewed as mobilizers of funds and loans based on the principals of FIT. Obafemi viewed depositary financial institutions as producers of services related directly to the role of institutions as intermediaries and viewed that financial intermediaries act as delegated monitors on behalf of ultimate savers.

Adams and Gramlich (2016) argued that in many organizations, new regulations might result in a mass of individual compliance projects that might consume a large share of companies' available resources. Regulations have an effect on the function of financial intermediaries as regulations could help in outlining rules and policies that intermediaries must adhere to, which might improve market stability and increase clients' confidence in financial institutions (Cuza, 2009). Market imperfections might create a need for intermediaries. Diamond (1984) stated that FIT could be used as guidance in designing an effective regulatory framework. Allen and Santomero (1998) argued that FIT might help managers to explain the exchanged relationships and functionalities of capital-providers of funds to capital-seekers. Diamond postulated that intermediary coalitions could achieve economies of scale through the cost advantages financial institutions might achieve as of the scale of operations in certain financial markets. Werner (2016) argued that according to FIT, banks are merely financial intermediaries that gather deposits to create liquidity and lend the funds for long-term to clients.

FIT's concepts might help researchers to focus on the role of financial institutions in an environment where market participants are asymmetrically informed. The presence of asymmetric information increases transaction costs and requires the existence of institutions to keep a check on the behavior of investors (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). A primary rationale for the existence of financial intermediaries is their superior ability to specialize in assessing the credit risks of potential borrowers (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). By specializing in gathering information about loan projects, and by permitting pooling and risk sharing among depositors, financial institutions might help reduce market imperfections and improve the allocation of resources (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018).

Researchers studied financial intermediaries and the role intermediaries could have on individuals and economies (Allen & Santomero, 1998). One argument of financial intermediaries by Benston and Smith (1976), and Fama (1980) was based on transaction cost. The notion of the transaction cost does not only include cost of transfers or foreign exchange, but also those costs of evaluation and monitoring of financial institutions (Cuza, 2009). Rationales for the existence of financial intermediaries are the ability of a financial institution to offer financial services to borrowers at low costs, attract investors by offering high returns on investments, and maintain a profitability level that could sustain current operations and provide future growths (Adams & Gramlich, 2016; Andrieş, 2009; Yu, 2015). Chaudhary and Abbas (2017) stated that, according to FIT, one of the objectives of managers of financial intermediaries is to provide clients with competitive financial products by reducing costs associated with the offered financial services. One advantage of financial intermediaries is the ability to have a competitive edge by providing competitive products to clients and attract potential investors (Andrieş, 2009).

One of FIT's principles is the method of regulation. Financial institutions in the United States must follow set regulations imposed by the government. The purpose of most regulators when imposing new rules is to help stabilize financial markets, which could improve consumers' confidence in the financial system and enhances economic growth (Adams & Gramlich, 2016). Regulations are important to sustain the reliability and integrity of financial markets and gain clients' confidence in financial intermediaries (Balseven, 2016). Halbouni, Obeid, and Garbou (2016) claimed that compliance with existing and new government regulations might have a cost burden on organizations. Adams and Gramlich (2016) postulated that the reduction in the number of banks post the 2008 financial crisis could be related to the increased costs of complying with new

financial rules introduced in response to the 2008 financial crisis. Calomiris (2018) stated that in 2015, a Golden Sachs Global Market Institute's study concluded that financial regulations are major costs to most organizations. Calomiris also argued that regulatory reform had created regulatory costs that big firms could bear more easily than some small financial intermediaries. Romānova, Grima, Spiteri, and Kudinska (2018) claimed that while the development of wider use of financial services by financial intermediaries might benefit a firm's growth, the evolution of financial regulations put firms under additional pressure as compliance costs continue to rise.

Another principal of FIT is transaction cost. Costs of financial products offered by financial intermediaries could influence a firm's profit and growth opportunities (He, Lin, & Wei, 2016). Financial institutions' managers recognize that transaction costs could affect a firm's profitability as a transaction cost is a main factor in determining prices of financial products (He et al., 2016). Financial intermediaries could become more competitive and attract more clients if financial products are offered at a reduced cost (Dauda & Lee, 2016). As transaction cost and information asymmetry could be influenced by different factors in financial markets, where increased uncertainties in a financial market might increase information asymmetry, which could increase costs of transactions (He et al., 2016).

Watse (2017) concluded that information asymmetry could affect relationships between financial intermediaries and borrowers. In addition, Watse argued that financial intermediaries might issue high-interest loans to clients as of information asymmetry, which could harm firms' growth opportunities by discouraging some clients from purchasing financial products at high costs. The existence of financial intermediaries while minimizing information asymmetry, according to FIT, is valuable to economies and financial markets as borrowers and investors could profit from competitive financial services (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017; Watse, 2017). Papoutsi (2018) claimed that according to FIT, reduced information asymmetries could strengthen relationships between financial intermediaries and borrowers, which might allow financial intuitions to retain valuable clients and attract other borrowers. Additionally, Ramakrishnan and Thakor (1984) argued that financial literature has identified that relationships between financial intermediaries and borrowers are important in overcoming obstacles arising from information asymmetry.

High transaction cost. High transaction cost is one of the tenets of FIT. He et al. (2016) claimed that business leaders recognize that transaction costs could affect a firm's profitability. Kalu et al. (2018) discussed the effect of FIT's tenets on financial intermediaries. Kalu et al. claimed that market frictions like transaction costs and information asymmetry are critical in influencing the profitability of financial institutions. Kalu et al. postulated that high transaction costs could lead to higher fees for financial products, which would decrease a firm's profit. Cuza (2009) explained that many of high transaction costs are influenced by markets' imperfections, which is generated by information asymmetry. One goal of financial intermediaries is to reduce transaction costs created by information asymmetry or financial regulations (Cuza, 2009).

Allen and Santomero (1998) argued that FIT's assumptions focus on functions of institutions, which could reduce frictions of transaction cost and information asymmetry. Financial intermediaries play an essential role in the economic growth of many countries (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). According to FIT, financial intermediaries can provide a competitive edge as financial organizations can acquire low-cost information and minimize transaction costs, which could increase a firm's profit and improve the firm's growth opportunity (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017).

According to He et al. (2016), business managers acknowledge that transaction costs could affect a company's costs and profitability. High transaction costs could lead to higher fees passed on to customers buying financial products (Kalu et al., 2018). Chaudhary and Abbas (2017) claimed that, according to FIT, a role of financial intermediaries is the ability to acquire low-cost information which could minimize transaction costs. Andrieş (2009) argued that one of the advantages of financial intermediaries is the ability to have a competitive advantage by providing competitive products to clients. Information asymmetry is the assumption that one party of a transaction could have more valuable information than the other party, which could give one party dominance over the outcome of the transaction (Diamond, 1984). Cuza assumed that the method of regulation might influence economic growth through government policies and supervision of financial intermediaries. Cuza claimed that many of the imperfections generated by informational asymmetry could lead to high transaction costs. He et al. (2016) argued that understanding transaction cost could help decisionmakers formulate more efficient strategies, which could improve the financial performance of financial institutions. He et al. claimed that managers of a financial organization should focus on minimizing transaction costs through the design of efficient governance mechanism for supporting economic transactions. He et al. postulated that uncertainties might enhance negative information asymmetry and could increase the potentiality of some intermediaries to behave opportunistically, which could increase the cost of transactions. Dauda and Lee (2016) argued that banking customers place more value on the transaction costs. Dauda and Lee claimed that financial institutions could strengthen competitiveness and improve performance through the focus on reduction of transaction costs and the transaction errors.

Information asymmetry in optimal time. Asymmetry information in optimal time is another tenet of FIT. According to Diamond (1984), information asymmetry might allow one party to dominate the result of a financial transaction as one party might have more information about the financial transaction than the other party. Many researchers have discussed asymmetry information and claimed that regulations might reduce asymmetry information, which could have a positive effect on the growth of financial intermediaries (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018; Allen & Santomero, 1998). According to FIT, financial institutions' managers should attempt to reduce information asymmetry, which could enable managers to avoid risky investments (Diamond, 1984; Ramakrishnan & Thakor, 1984). According to FIT, reducing transaction costs and asymmetry

information are some of the dominant explanations for the existence of financial intermediaries (Cuza, 2009). Additionally, Abdel-Razzaq (2018) argued that the existence of asymmetry information might increase transaction costs and reduce a firm's growth opportunity.

According to Abdel-Razzaq (2018), FIT focuses on the role of financial institutions in an environment where market participants should be asymmetrically informed as the existence of information asymmetry could increase transaction costs and might require regulators to demand new rules to reduce information asymmetry. He et al. (2016) postulated that uncertainties could increase information asymmetry and might make some intermediaries to behave opportunistically, which could increase the cost of transactions and decrease the level of profitability. Diamond (1984) argued that financial institutions could help to overcome informational asymmetry problems by acting as delegated monitors that provide clients with reduced-cost financial products. Molnar (2018) argued that managers of financial intermediaries could use firms' allocated resources to mitigate information asymmetry, which could reduce a borrower's cost. He et al. argued that a financial intermediary higher cost of loans is associated with a higher credit risk and information asymmetry. Faff, Gray, and Tan (2016) claimed that management of a financial intermediary might base a decision on a strategic financing project based on transaction costs, which could be driven by the level of information asymmetry and mandated regulations.

Eckstein (2015) claimed that the purpose of regulating financial markets is to increase transparency and decrease information asymmetry. However, Eckstein claimed that there is a positive correlation between information asymmetry and regulations' complexity and difficulties. Information asymmetry might likely increase when regulations' characteristics are complex and difficult to understand. Chen, Danbolt, and Holland (2014) claimed that financial intermediaries could help in decreasing information asymmetry by acting as delegated monitors between lenders and borrowers. Haron and Nomran (2016) claimed that information asymmetry might vary based on a firm's size. Haron and Nomran argued that managers in some organizations choose internal financing to external financing as managers know more information about the value of an organization than investors.

Method of regulations. A method of regulation is one of FIT's tenets, which can influence a financial intermediary's financial performance (Cuza, 2009). Diamond (1984) stated that the method of regulation could affect financial intermediaries' profits as regulations might increase compliance costs. Halbouni et al. (2016) claimed that compliance with financial regulations might increase the operating costs of financial intermediaries, which could reduce the firm's profit. Jiang, Aldewereld, Dignum, Wang, and Baida (2015) postulated that compliance with financial regulations could be costly and might increase the cost of a company's financial products. Halbouni et al. claimed that allocating companies' resources to comply with government regulations could reduce firms' growth opportunities as fewer of the firm's resources would be dedicated to

growing the firm's market share. Wall, Lowry, and Barlow (2016) argued that compliance with regulations could reduce regulatory violations, which would minimize the number of penalties a company must pay and might allow managers to pass on benefits to clients as a reduction in the transaction costs of financial products or services.

An approach of financial intermediaries that was based on the method of regulations was developed by Guttentag and Lindsay (1968), and Merton (1995). According to the regulation approach, the method of regulation could influence liquidity and solvability of financial intermediaries (Diamond, 1984). Method of regulations could influence a financial intermediary's financial performance (Cuza, 2009). Diamond (1984) stated that the method of regulation could affect financial intermediaries' profits as regulations might increase compliance costs. Halbouni et al. (2016) postulated that operating costs and transaction costs could be influenced by compliance with financial regulations.

In the United States, financial institutions must adhere to prescribed regulations imposed by the government. The intentions of most regulators when imposing new financial rules are to stabilize the financial market and improve consumers' confidence in the financial system (Adams & Gramlich, 2016). Post the 2008-financial crisis, government officials in the United States and abroad started to create new regulations on financial organizations to minimize or eliminate the effect of any future financial crises (Oliver, 2013). Wan-Ibrahim and Ismail (2015) described regulations as policies that are needed to ensure that financial institutions are in a stable state that could make institutions resistant to economic shocks and suitable to fulfil basic functions. Regulating financial institutions could enhance the ability of intermediaries to face unexpected financial consequences (Wan-Ibrahim & Ismail, 2015). Wan-Ibrahim and Ismail argued that regulators would act as a body of an institution to control capital and assets' allocations in financial organizations. Oliver (2013) argued that, in many circumstances, imposing government regulations on financial institutions might help to minimize future negative implications in the financial market.

Independent Variables

Regulatory compliance cost. The federal financial institutions examination council (FFIEC) was established on March 10, 1979 (Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council [FFIEC], 2018). FFIEC consists of the federal deposit insurance corporation (FDIC), the office of the comptroller of the currency (OCC), the office of thrift supervision (OTS), the board of governors of the federal reserve system (FRB), and the NCUA (NCUA, 2018). FFIEC is empowered to prescribe uniform principles and standards and to make recommendations that encourage uniformity in the supervision of financial institutions (NCUA, 2017). According to Balseven (2016), regulations of financial organizations are methods governments impose, which direct financial institutions to certain requirements, restrictions, and guidelines. Balseven defined financial regulators as an establishment of institutions and rules concerning financial markets by public authority, with the purpose of pointing sources in the direction of certain objectives. Regulations are important to uphold the soundness and integrity of the

financial system and gain clients' confidence in the financial institutions (Balseven, 2016).

Vanni (2017) claimed that with the rising complexity of management of financial institutions, the need to protect customers' privacy, the need for stability, and credibility of financial institutions are some of the factors behind imposing government regulations. While Adams and Gramlich (2016) claimed that new financial regulations for some financial intermediaries might produce additional compliance costs. Cuza (2009) argued that regulations could have positive effects on clients' assessments of financial intermediaries, which might attract new customers and could reduce transaction costs. As Cuza discussed method of regulation as a principal of FIT, Diamond (1984) and Merton (1995) stated that regulating financial intermediaries could enhance financial positions of organizations, which might improve economies. Balseven (2016) stated that during and after the Great Recession, regulations concerning the financial system had become a focus of regulators in the United States. Adams and Gramlich (2016) discussed concerns of policy makers about the reduction in the number of new banks, which could be related to the increased regulatory burdens that were introduced in response to the 2008 financial crisis. However, according to FIT's assumptions, method of regulations might reduce information asymmetry, which could improve clients' confidence in financial institutions (Diamond, 1984). Most regulators are inclined to introduce new financial rules in response to a financial crisis as rules might decrease information asymmetry and increase

clients' confidence in financial intermediaries, which support FIT's assumptions regarding method of regulations and information asymmetry (Cuza, 2009).

According to Abdel-Razzaq (2018), a primary rationale for the existence of financial intermediaries is the superior ability of financial intermediaries to specialize in assessing the credit risk of potential borrowers. Most financial institutions' leaders have enough resources to help gather information about potential projects, which could reduce market imperfections, decrease costs, and improve profitability (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). Werner (2016) argued that imposing capital requirements on financial institutions appeared to be a viable way to regulate financial organizations. Werner stated that the approach of regulating the money supply and require capital adequacy form financial intermediaries are based on the veracity of FIT, which have been supported by central banks. Werner claimed that higher capital requirements from financial firms could increase cost of capital and might not prevent subsequent financial crises.

Compliance with external rules. Jiang et al. (2015) stated that governmental regulations are measures and rules imposed by legal authorities to ensure social welfare and regulate business activities. Compliance with government regulations might increase the operating costs of organizations or reduce the allocated funds for other services or products (Halbouni et al., 2016). Cuza (2009) argued that compliance of financial intermediaries has a positive influence on economic growth. Jiang et al. (2015) explained that ensuring regulatory compliance could be costly and complex as advancements in technology and globalization could require firms' leaders to allocate more financial

resources to compliance. Halbouni et al. (2016) claimed that allocating companies' resources to comply with government regulations might weaken firms' growth opportunities, which could decrease the market value of firms. Wall et al. (2016) argued that compliance with regulations would decrease organizational rule violations, which would minimize the number of penalties a company must pay to authorities.

Kitching (2016) suggested that small firms might suffer financial losses from regulations imposed on businesses as the burden of new regulations might increase the labor cost associated with compliance. According to Cuza (2009), FIT's assumptions could explain the rationale behind the existence of financial intermediaries, and how regulations might affect regulatory compliance costs, which could require firms' managers to allocate more human resources to meet compliance requirements. He et al. (2016) sated that business managers understand that transaction costs and method of regulations could have an effect on a firm's profitability. Kitching stated that government regulations as employment regulations could increase a company's operating costs, which might reduce a firm's profitability. Jiang et al. and Kitching claimed that new regulations could require firms' leaders to assign additional human capital to comply with regulations, which could increase firms' payroll costs.

Diamond (1984) argued that FIT's tenet about the method of regulation, and the influence regulations might have on the financial performance of organizations could help in designing an effective regulatory framework that could improve firms' profitability. According to FIT, one objective of managers of financial intermediaries is
to minimize transaction costs, which includes reducing costs related to financial products as administrative costs and payroll costs (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). While Halbouni et al. (2016) stated that regulatory compliance could be costly to most financial intermediaries. Diamond and Rajan (2000) argued that methods of regulation could influence financial positions of most financial intermediaries and enhance firms' ability to overcome financial losses.

Compliance with internal systems. Even though internal control systems are not mandatory for corporations, having internal control is considered important to the operation of firms (Kitching, 2016). Mukhina (2017) mentioned that an internal control system in a corporation might enhance a corporation's efficiency and growth. A firm's efficiency in implementing an internal compliance system could improve firms' operations and reduce information asymmetry, which might increase a firm's market share and provide economies of scale (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). Andrieş (2009) claimed that the ability of financial intermediaries to provide competitive services to clients is a core function of financial intermediaries. Halbouni et al. (2016) concluded that corporate governance might enhance the value of a corporation and improve the working environment in companies, which could enhance a company's regulatory compliance. Mukhina claimed that the main goal of a firm's internal control system is to provide constant monitoring and assessment of the firm's activities and to make sure all transactions are conforming to applicable regulations.

According to Kitching (2016), regulatory burdens might impose limitations on companies' resources and reduce funds allocated for organizational growth, which might limit a company's financial ability. One of the main goals of compliance in a corporation is to provide a constant monitoring and assessment for compliance with applicable regulatory acts and internal regulations as compliance could improve a company's profitability and minimize noncompliance costs (Mukhina, 2017). Financial intermediaries are considered assigned monitors of financial transactions between investors and borrowers, which could help firms to provide necessary financial products to clients while minimizing investors' risk (Obafemi, 2012). According to FIT, information asymmetry and method of regulation are key principles in explaining the existence of financial intermediaries (Cuza, 2009). Cuza (2009) stated that based on FIT's tenets, financial intermediaries emerged to reduce costs of financial products. Reducing information asymmetry could allow banks' managers to have more information about clients, which could improve loans' quality, decrease transaction costs of financial products, and improve firms' profitability (Mukhina, 2017). Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018) explained that firms' managers could measure a firm's profitability generated within a certain period by the ROA's ratio.

Measuring regulatory compliance cost. Elliehausen (1998) defined cost of regulations as the cost of activities that are mandated by the law. According to Elliehausen, regulation costs for a financial institution could be estimated as a percentage of total noninterest expense. Regulatory costs have increased by 39% since 2010 as a

result of the 2008 financial crisis (Credit Union National Association [CUNA], 2016). Elliehausen stated that based on researchers' findings, regulation costs might be estimated as 13.70% of total noninterest expense. According to CUNA (2016), regulatory compliance costs for some credit unions could amount to 17% of operating costs. Noninterest expenses for credit unions are included in *Call Reports*, which can be accessed from the NCUA's website (https://www.ncua.gov). The noninterest expense account in the *Call Report* comprises of different expense accounts, which are identified by name and an account number (NCUA, 2017). I used the *Custom Query* available within *Call Reports* to retrieve the amount of noninterest expense for the selected credit unions.

Operation costs. According to Tuya (2017), the increased competition in the financial market increased operating costs of financial institutions, which could decrease firms' profitability. In financial institutions, managers and owners are concerned with operating costs as costs in most financial organizations are passed on to clients. Regulators of financial firms are also concerned about the operating costs of financial intermediaries as the more efficiently a financial company is operated, the larger earnings available to absorb possible losses (Davis & Martin, 1985). Eustache (2017) claimed that, for some financial intermediaries, compliance with rules could result in additional operating costs, which could increase transaction costs of financial services. According to Cuza (2009) and He et al. (2016), a transaction cost is one of FIT's tenets, and higher transaction costs might reduce firms' profitability, which motivate most firms' managers

to find ways to reduce transaction costs. According to FIT, financial intermediaries can have a competitive edge as most financial companies have enough resources that can help to minimize transaction costs and increase efficacy of operations, which can increase a firm's profit and improve the firm's growth opportunity (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). According to Işik and Belke, a firm's operating cost is a statistically significant variable that influences the firm's profitability.

Temelkov noted that operating costs for most financial firms are rising as challenges of regulatory compliance and technological innovations are evolving. Management's monitoring of a firm's operating costs as transaction costs could help managers formulate better decisions about the firm's financial strategies, which could improve organizations' financial performances (He et al., 2016). Technological advancements in financial markets have made implementations of new technologies and compliance an expensive process for most financial institutions (Temelkov, 2018). According to Lee and Isa (2017), market structure and operating costs have an effect on financial institutions' profit margins. Lee and Isa claimed that operating costs are considered determinants of a company's net income, and a financial institution that is operating at a higher cost-level must charge higher margins to maintain an acceptable level of profitability.

There are many factors that could affect the operating costs of a financial institution, and managers of financial organizations are vigilantly trying to control operating expenses to stabilize the profitability and improve firms' financial performance

(Tuya, 2017). Baral (2016) and Al-Shubiri and Jamil (2017) postulated that the profitability of financial institutions is influenced by allocation efficiency and operating costs. Al-Shubiri and Jamil argued that variables as operating costs affect the financial value of firms. Bondari (2017) and He et al. (2016) assumed that allocating costs to products accurately would enable financial organizations to make more accurate and beneficial decisions in a competitive environment, which could help financial firms' managers to become more efficient, thus reducing operating costs. Eustache (2017) argued that some financial intermediaries have cost advantages as efficiency of operations and the size of organizations could help lower costs of financial services, which could improve the growth of clients. Kalu et al. (2018) discussed FIT's tenets (high transaction costs, method of regulations, and information asymmetry) and the influence that tenets might have on the financial performance of a company. Kalu et al. concluded that transaction costs have an important role in determining the profitability of financial institutions.

Fixed cost. Fixed costs are considered expenses a business must pay regardless of any business activities (He et al., 2016). Varble and Young (2017) claimed that credit union managers are eager to see growth in membership base, which would allow management to spread fixed expenses as costs of technology and regulations across more individuals. Tuya (2017) claimed that, in the financial industry, developments of technology and globalization helped the industry to grow, which could increase the cost of operation. He et al. presumed that a company's operating costs could be justified when

transactions' volume is large enough, which could reduce transactions costs of financial services offered by an organization. According to FIT, a main role of financial intermediaries is to provide low-cost financial services to clients by allocating available resources and attracting new clients, which could minimize transaction costs (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). Cuza (2009) claimed that most limitations generated by informational asymmetry could lead to higher transaction costs and lower profits. The lack of compliance with regulations could be one of the limitations that might affect information asymmetry, which could lead to higher transaction costs (Samaha & Khlif, 2016). The limited interventions of government in financial markets might influence information asymmetry and transaction costs as governments could establish accounting standards that companies should follow, which could reduce information asymmetry (Samaha & Khlif, 2016).

Variable cost. In financial institutions, variable costs are dependent on many factors, which include the number of financial transactions produced by financial organizations (Tokle & Tocher, 2016). Competition between financial intermediaries is manifested on transaction costs and products differentiation (Cuza, 2009). Cuza (2009) argued that some financial intermediaries might give up short-term profit maximization objective to achieve long-term goals as increasing market share and reducing transaction costs, which could be attained by diversifying financial products. As variable costs might change based on the number of a firm's financial transactions, and reducing transaction costs is one of FIT's tenets, thus companies' managers should strive to diversify financial

services offered by financial intermediaries, which could increase a firm's market share and reduce transaction costs (Cuza, 2009; Tokle & Tocher, 2016). Rahman, Ashraf, Zheng, and Begum (2017) claimed that cost efficiency has a marginal positive effect on financial intermediaries, which allows institutions to maintain competitive transaction costs. Allen and Santomero (1998) postulated that FIT's assumptions could guide managers of financial intermediaries to focus on steps that could improve efficacy of operation and reduce organizations' operating cost.

Large financial intermediaries might have a competitive advantage as the size of organizations could help financial institutions' managers reduce costs of financial services, which could increase firms' profits (Eustache, 2017). Albert and Kung'u (2018) argued that in less populated areas, costs of financial services might be high as the demand of financial transactions in rural areas might be low, which might discourage other financial intermediaries from entering a specific market, thus increasing transactions costs. One study found significant relationships between sizes and financial performances of financial intermediaries and indicated that most large corporations could offer competitive prices to clients (Ibrahim, Ahmed, & Minai, 2018). As reducing transaction costs is an objective of financial intermediaries according to FIT's assumptions, and the number of financial products could reduce transaction costs and low demand for financial services in rural areas might increase costs (Albert & Kung'u, 2018; Allen & Santomero, 1998; Eustache, 2017).

Noninterest operating cost. Younus and Akhtaruzzaman (2017) argued that opportunity costs of noninterest-bearing assets and management efficiency are statistically significant and positively related to a financial institution's profit margin. Fredriksson, Maresch, and Moro (2017) stated that interest and noninterest products and services have an effect on the profitability of financial organizations. Improving a firm's profit could allow managers to offer competitive financial products to clients, therefore growing clients and reducing costs, which is, according to FIT, is one of the key roles of financial intermediaries (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). According to Andries (2009), the existence of financial intermediaries depends on organizations' ability to yield acceptable earnings to sustain current operations and support organizations' growth. Buyl, Boone, and Wade (2017) argued that financial intermediaries have engaged in traditional income transactions and noninterest income activities as noninterest transactions carry less risk than lending transactions. Buyl et al. (2017) claimed that poor corporate regulatory compliance by financial institutions' managers might increase costs of financial transactions and harm firms' growth.

Lee and Isa (2017) claimed that financial institutions could diversify sources of income by engaging in noninterest sources of revenues. One of the advantages of financial intermediaries is the ability to diversify products and services, thus attracting more clients and investors, which could reduce transactions costs and enhances growth opportunities (Andrieş, 2009). According to FIT's assumptions, financial intermediaries might have the ability to reduce transaction costs and information asymmetry, which

could allow organizations' managers to have efficient operations while minimizing operation costs (Allen & Santomero, 1998). According to Said (2018), diversified financial products might attract new clients and grow companies' operations, which could improve profitability while maintaining low transactions cost. One objective of most financial intermediaries' managers is to attain profitable operations by reducing operation costs. According to Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018), firms' managers could evaluate the profitability of organizations and how efficiently managers are controlling operation costs by using the ROA measurement.

Measuring operation costs. Operation expenses for financial institutions are usually recorded and classified by category and numerical values on firms' financial reports. Operation expenses for credit unions are detailed on *Call Reports* obtained from the NCUA's website. I retrieved values of operation costs for credit unions selected for this study from *Call Reports* at NCUA's website (https://www.ncua.gov). I used the *Custom Query* tool available at the NCUA's website to obtain necessary data about operation costs of credit unions specific to this study. Ammar (2017) stated that reducing operation costs in a financial institution might benefit clients by offering competitive financial products and benefit the financial institution by gaining competitive advantage. Hossain (2015) claimed that high operation costs in a credit union could be at the expense of members, and the credit union's managers should attain operational efficacy, which might reduce operation costs.

Dependent Variable

Profitability. Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018) stated that profitability is the ability of a company to generate profit within a certain period. Yusuf and Surjaatmadja claimed that return on assets (ROA) is used to measure the effectiveness of organizations in generating a profit by utilizing the assets owned. Investors are usually attracted to highly profitable companies as a high profitability is associated with a high rate of return (Yusuf & Surjaatmadja, 2018). Reddy and Babu (2018) claimed that the level of competition between organizations in certain markets might affect the operation cost and the profitability of firms. Yusuf and Surjaatmadja and Zogning (2017) postulated that investors and banks are interested in the financial health of companies as investors and banks might be stakeholders. Zogning argued that in a market-based system, the profitability of financial institutions depends less on loan-interest as financial companies earn a significant part of their income through services generated outside financial intermediation.

Said (2018) stated that assets' quality of financial institutions is considered a significant factor in determining the overall financial healthiness of organizations. Said argued that nonperforming loans would have a negative effect on the profitability of financial firms as the 2008 financial crisis was an example of how lower-quality assets might have affected the financial health of organizations. Zheng, Sarker, and Nahar (2018) stated that return on equity (ROE) is a measure of profitability, which is calculated by net income divided by shareholders' equity and expressed as a percentage.

Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018) and Said claimed that shareholders could assess the profitability of financial companies by using the ROA measurement, while Said further argued that shareholders might also use ROE measurement to evaluate the profitability of financial firms. Zheng et al. (2018) claimed that the profitability of financial companies is affected by the credit risk of financial firms. Reddy and Babu (2018) and Zheng et al. argued that the concentration of financial companies is positively associated with the level of competition, and negatively associated with firms' profitability.

Domanović, Todorović, and Savović (2018) argued that there are internal and external factors that could affect the profitability of financial institutions. Domanović et al. (2018) argued that complex regulations and the high costs associated with financial regulations are some of the external factors that could affect profitability. Witman (2018) claimed that incentives financial institutions pay to employees for selling financial products are some of the costs that could decrease firms' profitability. Domanović et al. and Witman claimed that the profitability of financial organizations could be influenced by management's policies and the structure of the assets and liability of organizations. Domanović et al. argued that large financial organizations are more likely to increase profitability than small organizations as large firms can realize economies of scale, which allow large institutions to allocate fixed costs to a broader assets' base, therefore reducing average fixed costs. Pistoresi and Venturelli (2015) claimed that according to FIT, financial intermediaries could adopt screening procedures and control measures that could improve management efficiency and reduce risky investments. Domanović et al. and Witman claimed that diversifying products and services offered by financial intermediaries could lead to clients' growth as different financial services could attract more clients, which could contribute to improving profitability and reducing costs of transactions.

According to Joo et al. (2017), government regulatory compliance for financial institutions, and the increase in operation and regulatory compliance costs affect profitability of financial intermediaries. The ability of financial institutions to improve profits is associated with other factors that affect firms' financial performances as operation costs and regulatory costs (Joo et al., 2017). Reducing transaction costs of financial services and asymmetry information are some of the main reasons for the existence of financial intermediaries (Cuza, 2009). According to Chaudhary and Abbas (2017), financial intermediaries could provide financial benefits to investors by achieving acceptable ROE, which is attainable by reducing costs of financial products and enhancing companies' growth. According to FIT, the existence of financial intermediaries is considered beneficial to economies as clients and investors could benefit from competitive financial services and steady return on investments (Chaudhary & Abbas, 2017). Mgboji (2019) used FIT to discuss financial intermediaries' roles and how financial institutions generate a profit by accepting deposits and lending funds out to customers.

Measuring profitability. Financial statements present a picture of an organization's financial standing by tracking revenues and expenses. Total revenues and

minus total expenses will equal profitability as represented on a company's income statements (NCUA, 2017). Financial ratios are used to measure businesses' performances in terms of liquidity, debt, and profitability (Oberholzer & Barnard, 2015). Klaassen and van Eeghen (2014) defined ROA as a profitability ratio that could measure income generated by all assets. According to Oberholzer and Barnard (2015), ROA was found to be the most frequently used accounting-based performance to measure firms' profitability. ROA for a credit union has a numerical value and included in *Call Reports* retrieved from NCUA's website (https://www.ncua.gov).

Alternative Theories

Signaling theory. Samaha and Khlif (2016) stated that signaling theory was developed by Spence in 1973 to explain market behaviors. Samaha and Khlif argued that management could use signaling theory to show how information asymmetry can be reduced by signaling more information to others. Rezaee, Zhang, Dou, and Gao (2018) argued that management might use the concept of the signaling theory to explain management's incentives for disclosing information to reduce information asymmetry. Rezaee et al. (2018) postulated that some organizations could attempt to signal positive information about the corporate governance of an organization to attract investors, which might improve the financial performance of organizations. Zerbini (2017) argued that revealing information about a financial institution's services might reduce information asymmetry, which could reduce the regulatory requirements on specific services as buyers could have enough information about the offered financial services.

Zerbini (2017) explained that signaling theory might have the same assumption about information asymmetry as information asymmetry might influence the financial performance of some financial institutions. Zerbini also claimed that according to the signaling theory, some products might result in higher upfront costs that outweigh the expected return as the cost of promoting certain financial products might exceed potential profits. Samaha and Khlif (2016) postulated that managers could disclose financial information, which signals to markets expectations and intentions of organizations. Firms' compliance might signal to investors that an organization is prepared to adopt new strategies or use a more restrictive internal control (Samaha & Khlif, 2016; Zerbini, 2017). Groening and Kanuri (2018) argued that managers might use the signaling theory to help investors identify better-investing opportunities, which could improve the profitability of some firms. Groening and Kanuri also claimed that according to the agency theory, an agent is more involved in the company than a principal, which could create information asymmetry that could increase costs to principals or inspire new regulatory requirements.

Agency theory. Agency theory was introduced by Berle and Means (1932), and according to the agency theory, the separation of ownership from operational control in organizations could result in a principal-agent relationship, where managers are agents and owners are the principal. Li (2018) stated that the agency theory has two principles (a) conflict of interest between principal and agent and (b) information asymmetry between the agent and the principal. According to Li, a principal of a financial institution

might offer managers bonuses to improve profitability, which would require managers to reduce the firm's operations cost. On the other hand, Darayseh and Chazi (2018) argued that managers of financial organizations might not act in the best interest of the principal as firms' agents might not increase firms' risk, which could increase a company's profit. Darayseh and Chazi claimed that the complication of the principal-agent relationship could increase the conflict and information asymmetry between agents and the principal, which might lead the principal to increase monitoring of agents and firms' operations. Darayseh and Chazi and Hussain, Rigoni, and Orij (2018) postulated that the conflicting relationship between managers and principal in a company might motivate the principal to closely monitor managers, which might increase firms' operation costs and reduce profitability.

Hussain et al. (2018) argued that effective internal monitoring in a company might reduce the agency problem and holds agents accountable, which could improve profitability, while Cuza (2009) argued that the rise of evaluation and monitoring of firms' operations could increase firms' transaction costs and reduce earnings. Darayseh and Chazi (2018) and Eckstein (2015) argued that there is a positive relationship between conflict of interest between agents and principal and information asymmetry. Eckstein argued that there is a positive relationship between information asymmetry and government regulations, which might increase the regulatory compliance cost and the operation cost. **Stewardship theory.** Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018) stated that Donaldson and Davis (1991) coined stewardship theory based on the philosophical assumptions about human nature that managers are trustworthy, and a manager in a firm would override personal interests to achieve organizational goals. Yusuf and Surjaatmadja claimed that according to the stewardship theory, management could act with full responsibility toward achieving organizational goals, and internal monitoring of operations to make sure management follows companies' procedures to achieve firms' goals is not necessary. Maxfield, Wang, and Magaldi De Sousa (2018) argued that managers' compensation is one of the most important principles in corporate governance that might align managerial decisions with the interest of firms' principal. Hussain et al. (2018) argued that increased monitoring of management could raise the cost of transactions in a financial institution, which could reduce firms' profitability.

Re and Giachino (2018) claimed that according to stewardship theory, positive relationship between managers and the principal could evolve, which could reduce information asymmetry, therefore compliance costs and monitoring costs might decrease. Financial performance of organizations relies on the corporate governance of firms (Tshipa, Brümmer, Wolmarans, & Du-Toit, 2018). There is a positive relationship between internal corporate governance and the financial performance of a company (Tshipa et al., 2018). García-Meca, López-Iturriaga, and Tejerina-Gaite (2017) argued that according to the stewardship theory, managers are empowered as owners are not closely monitoring operations, which could increase financial risk. García-Meca et al. (2017) argued that the participation of firms' principal in the operations of firms might help to formulate and implement strategies that could reduce information asymmetry and facilitate coordination among stakeholders. Ahmed and Manab (2016) argued that financial institutions' principal should design strategies to help guide operational managers to avoid taking potentially unprofitable risks, which could harm companies' financial performance.

Credit Unions

Credit unions are depository institutions created to serve members as credit cooperatives (NCUA, 2018). The earliest financial cooperatives were formed at the beginning of the 19th century in England (NCUA, 2018). A few decades after the initial formation in England, credit unions were introduced in Germany (NCUA, 2018). The credit unions that were established in the 19th century in England and Germany and were organized by Schulze-Delitzsch and Raiffeisen became the model for credit unions in the United States (NCUA, 2018). In 1934, President Roosevelt signed the federal credit union act into law, creating a national system to charter and to supervise federal credit unions (NCUA, 2018). In 1970, NCUA became an independent federal agency (NCUA, 2018). In the 1970s, the United States Congress created the national credit union share insurance fund (NCUSIF) to protect deposits at credit unions (NCUA, 2018).

In the 1990s, credit unions in the United States continued to expand as a group as the deregulation by the U.S. government provided more flexibility in the merger of some financial institutions (NCUA, 2018). The financial performance of some credit unions was affected by the 2008 financial crisis as many large credit unions in the United States invested in troubled mortgage-backed securities that experienced unprecedented declines in value (My Credit Union [MCU], 2018; NCUA, 2018). Most credit unions offer higher saving rates and lower loan rates to members (MCU, 2018). Like banks, credit unions accept deposits and make loans, but contrary to banks, credit unions mission is to service credit unions' members by providing participants with low-cost loans and financial services (MCU, 2018). Emmons and Schmid (1999) stated that one distinguishing feature of credit unions is the legal requirement that members share a common bond. Credit unions with multiple common bonds have higher participation rates than credit unions with a single common bond (Emmons & Schmid, 1999). Hassan, Brodmann, Rayfield, and Huda (2018) claimed that a unique characteristic of credit unions is the inability of credit unions to sell off loans to other investors after inceptions as the issuing credit union must hold any loan until a full repayment or default.

Emmons and Schmid (1999) and NCUA (2018) argued that credit unions' members enjoy equal control rights and share a common bond of occupation or association. Emmons and Schmid and McKillop and Wilson (2015) claimed that credit unions could not do business with the general public as the limitations associated with the membership's characteristics. McKillop and Wilson claimed that credit unions provide financial services to individuals who are excluded by mainstream financial institutions as some traditional financial organizations might deem some clients to be too risky. Hassan et al. (2018) stated that credit unions are exempt from federal and most state taxes

through the passing of credit union membership access act of 1988 (CUMAA), which made credit unions nonprofit organizations. Credit unions under the supervision of NCUA are considered tax-exempt under section 501(c)(1) of the internal revenue code and are not required to file an annual information return (Internal Revenue Service [IRS], 2018). Hilton (1996) argued that credit unions are nonprofit organization as credit unions are owned by members, and the primary purpose of management of credit unions is to promote the economy by providing cost-efficient financial products to members, while retained profits are reinvested to achieve credit unions' objectives. Nonprofits typically have a national or state charter to provide members with financial and legal protection separate from the legal entity of the organization (NCUA, 2018). Nonprofit firms are considered as official bodies with a charter and governing board of representatives. Most often, not-for-profits are non-chartered organizations, and the purpose of operation might be just a hobby. Nonprofits normally qualify for tax-exempt status in the United States (NCUA, 2018). McKillop and Wilson stated that as credit unions in the United States are nonprofit organizations, therefore satisfying shareholders' profit expectations is not required. Martínez-Campillo, Fernández-Santos, and María-del (2018) argued that credit unions are obliged to maximize value not to shareholders, but for cooperative members, which could have a positive social impact on the members' communities. Martínez-Campillo et al. (2018) argued that credit unions' management must be efficient and competitive as possible to survive business environment at times of financial crises. Ely (2014) and Martínez-Campillo et al. and Pavlovskaya and Eletto (2018) claimed that the

economic interests of credit unions are bound to communities instead of the global market as credit unions' roots in specific communities united by residence, work, or geography.

Federally chartered credit unions. Ely (2014) stated that the passage of the CUMAA by the U.S. Congress allowed federally-chartered credit unions to expand beyond one membership group. Frame, Karels, and McClatchey (2002) argued that a single-bond credit union exists where a credit union's management limits membership to groups that share one bond as occupation or geographic area. According to Frame et al. (2002), members in multiple-bond credit unions can join as different groups, where each group has a specific bond in common. Ely claimed that the expansion of credit unions beyond one membership group would allow employees to continue to have access to credit unions' services following the loss or downsizing of some credit unions' sponsors. Malikov, Restrepo-Tobon, and Kumbhakar (2018) argued that credit unions with broader field-membership could offer a various range of services to members, which could create demand to a more diverse list of financial services. On the other hand, Ely argued that broader field-membership credit unions might operate with greater risks than single-bond credit unions. Malikov et al. (2018) stated that multiple-bond credit unions might have a substantial advantage over single-bond as broader credit unions are larger, which makes the diversity of credit risks easier. Pavlovskaya and Eletto (2018) postulated that some credit unions are struggling as of limited assets, which requires some credit unions to consolidate to achieve economies of scale.

Single-bond credit unions. Frame et al. (2002) claimed that before 1982, memberships in federal credit unions were limited to groups having a common bond of occupation, association, or geographical area. Frame et al. stated that occupational credit unions serve individuals sharing a common employer or workplace, and associational credit unions serve members of a religious congregation or a civic group. van Rijn (2018) argued that single-bond credit unions might have higher risk and lower returns than multiple-bond credit unions as a larger and a more diversified field of memberships could decrease risk. In 1982, credit unions were allowed to add common bonds to multiple groups (Frame et al., 2002).

Multiple-bond credit unions. According to Frame et al. (2002), the multiplebond regulatory by the NCUA was a normal response to the weak financial performance of many credit unions. The interpretation of credit unions multiple-bond groups by NCUA have allowed certain types of credit unions to add multiple groups, which have permitted many credit unions to diversify memberships and expand operations (Frame et al., 2002). Malikov et al. (2018) claimed that the diversification of credit unions membership has allowed credit unions to grow significantly to compensate for the loss of the traditional competitive advantage as economies of scale. According to Andrieş (2009), one of the advantages of financial intermediaries is the ability to have a competitive edge by providing competitive products to clients. Malikov et al. stated that a multiple-bond credit union might have a better growth rate than a single-bond credit union as mixed financial services offered by multiple-bond credit unions could attract more members and reduce risk. The use of the FIT in this study could help credit unions' managers to understand the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

Financial Performance

Toews (2015) stated that financial institutions as credit unions serve as financial intermediaries between savers and borrowers. Toews claimed that one objective of credit unions' management is to provide the best rates possible to borrowers and savers, while earning sufficient net profit to sustain efficient operations and stay competitive. Ibrahim et al. (2018) argued that the easiest way for a financial institution to achieve better financial performance is to charge high-interest rates on loans. Dey, Hossain, and Rezaee (2018) and Ibrahim et al. claimed that some studies found an association between a firm's size and financial performance. Dey et al. (2018) also argued that risk disclosure provides greater transparency, which might increase stakeholders' confidence in a firm and improve the firm's financial performance.

Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018) stated that organizations' financial performance could be measured as ROA or ROE. Yusuf and Surjaatmadja argued that firms' profitability might be used to measure managers' effectiveness in utilizing companies' assets. Kalu et al. (2018) argued that investors prefer to lend money to financial intermediaries as financial institutions are more effective in generating earnings than investors. Chaudhary and Abbas (2017) stated that according to FIT, financial intermediaries could help to maximize investors' ROA and ROE. Financial intermediaries might be more effective in generating earnings than individual investors as financial intermediaries could overcome informational asymmetry issues, which might minimize transaction costs and improve profitability. Abdel-Razzaq (2018) claimed that one focus of FIT is financial institutions' role in providing low-risk investments and financial performances by specializing in reducing information asymmetry and attaining economies of scale.

Cuza (2009) argued that the role of financial intermediaries in economies could be explained by FIT. Chaudhary and Abbas (2017) claimed that researchers might use FIT as guidance to explain the importance of FIT's tenets in maximizing profit by reducing costs and information asymmetry. Most successful financial intermediaries have a competitive advantage, which helps organizations generate high earnings (Andrieş, 2009). Adams and Gramlich (2016) claimed that government regulations have a cost burden on most financial firms, which might decrease organizations' profit and reduce a firm's ROA. Diamond (1984) stated that government regulations could affect the profitability of financial institutions.

According to Tuya (2017), the increased operating costs of financial institutions might encourage firms' management to develop plans that could maintain or improve the financial performance of organizations. Tuya argued that firms' managers are alarmed with rising operating costs as high operating costs, if passed to clients, might harm firms' growth and profitability. Al-Shubiri and Jamil (2017) and Wei (2016) claimed that operating costs affect the profitability of financial institutions, and managed-operating costs could help financial organizations to remain competitive. Most financial institutions are subject to regulatory requirements as regulatory compliance could help organizations' stability and growth (Vanni, 2017).

Compliance requirements. Government regulations of financial institutions could help clarify the way a firm conducts business with other companies and clients (Admati, 2017). According to Admati (2017), compliance with government regulations is costly, and most firms' managers would be motivated to manage compliance cost as the financial performance and managerial compensations typically rely on a firm's financial performance, which could be measured by ROA and ROE. Abdullah, Indulska, and Sadiq (2016) claimed that compliance requirements are typically associated with regulations that might be introduced by a legislature or regulatory bodies. Abdullah et al. (2016) stated that obligations to meet regulatory compliance are viewed as a burden by most financial institutions and failing to comply with regulations is no longer an option as organizations might face disastrous consequences for not complying with required regulations. Several frameworks have emerged to provide guidelines to firms' managers on how to efficiently meet regulatory compliance as compliance costs could influence the profitability of financial institutions. Logan (2016) stated that from a societal viewpoint, the stability of financial institutions is deemed more important than profitability, as most financial firms exist to generate sustainable profits, therefore, a regulatory framework should be incorporated into any derived profit model.

Chiu (2017) stated that as economic activities have become increasingly global, and financial firms are mandated to comply with multinational regulations, compliance costs have become a concern to firms' management. McKee and Kagan (2016) claimed that a financial institution's management has to operate in a manner that reduces operating costs to counterbalance increases in compliance costs. McKee and Kagan postulated that even though new regulations for financial institutions might help to provide a stable financial market, complying with the new regulations could impose sizable costs that might harm a firm's financial performance. According to Cyree (2016), regulatory compliance and legislative pressures are some of the largest barriers to the growth of most small financial organizations as costs of regulatory compliance reduce funds available for investments. After the passage of the U.S. Patriot Act, there was an increase in the number of employees hired by small financial companies (Cyree, 2016). After the passage of Dodd-Frank Act in 2010, there were financial indicators that supported (a) an increased regulatory burden, (b) lower pretax ROA, (c) lower loans per employee, and (d) higher percentage change in employees' salaries (Cyree, 2016). Cyree argued that when new regulations are burdensome on firms, a firm has to hire additional employees to maintain the same productivity or the firm's production level would fall, which could affect companies' profitability.

Efficacy of operation. Mahendru and Bhatia (2017) argued that a financial institution's efficiency is associated with how well a firm control costs while operating at a required- production level. Cost efficiency might echo organizations' financial

performances, where managers are controlling operation costs at the lowest while attaining the required productivity (Baral, 2016; Mahendru & Bhatia, 2017). Baral (2016) argued that the profitability of a company is influenced by the effectiveness of allocating firms' resources and the control of a company's operating costs. Managing operation costs in a firm would improve the firm's profitability, which could help financial institutions in providing competitive products and services (Bondari, 2017). Işik and Belke (2017) claimed that less efficient financial institutions with high operating costs are more likely to apply an extra interest margin to counterbalance some operating costs, which should improve a firm's profit margin. Temelkov (2018) claimed that changes in the way financial institutions conduct business are growing along with new costly challenges for most financial institutions.

Lee and Isa (2017) noted that a firm's efficiency could be measured by the ratio of operating costs to gross income or the amount of expenditures incurred to generate one unit of gross income. Financial institutions with high operational efficiency might pass on benefits to customers in the form of lower transaction costs, which could enhance organizations' growth and financial performances (Lee & Isa, 2017). Joo et al. (2017) argued that limited profitability of a financial institution which might be triggered by costly regulations or high operation costs might severely limit a financial intermediary's growth and prevent the financial intermediary from competing with other firms.

Profitability of investments. Said (2018) described profitability as the lifeline of any financial institution to continue operations and to establish a sound financial system.

Financial intermediaries' profitability is a measure of the effectiveness and efficiency of firms (Yusuf & Surjaatmadja, 2018). According to Yusuf and Surjaatmadja (2018), the profitability of financial institutions could be measured by ROA or ROE. Reddy and Babu (2018) and Tuya (2017) claimed that the profitability of financial intermediaries is influenced by the level of competition in a financial market and operating costs. Zogning (2017) postulated that investors are interested in firms' profitability as returns on investments and a firm's growth are influenced by the firm's earnings. Abosede, Fayose, and Eze (2018) stated that investors could evaluate firms' performances based on nonfinancial measures as products' quality, customer service, and employees' satisfaction or financial measures as profit, ROA, or ROE.

Abosede et al. (2018) argued that companies' financial performances and efficiencies are valuable assets that could lead to firms' competitive advantages and economies of scale, which might lower a firm's transaction costs and improve profitability. Said (2018) claimed that nonperforming assets would have a negative effect on a financial institution's profitability, which could harm a firm's returns on investment and cause instability in a financial market as the 2008 financial crisis. According to Said, there is a positive correlation between a firm's loans quality, size, and profitability. Zheng et al. (2018) claimed that a firm's credit risk might affect the firm's profitability and quality of assets. Zheng et al. stated that government regulations have an effect on a firm's profitability as regulations could decrease information asymmetry, which might improve the firm's growth as clients' confidence in the firm's financial products and services is increased. Zheng et al. argued that the profitability of firms is negatively associated with firms' concentration in certain markets, and regulatory requirements have an effect on firms' financial performances.

Chaudhary and Abbas (2017) and Andrieş (2009) stated that, based on FIT, one role of financial intermediaries is to generate adequate profit to maintain and grow operations by providing competitive financial products and services. Joo et al. (2017) claimed that a financial institution's efficiency and profitability could enhance managers' abilities to comply with all required regulations, which could minimize a firm's risk and make the firm more resistant against sudden changes in a financial market. He et al. (2016) argued that most managers in financial institutions are constantly trying to reduce firms' variable costs as lowering variable costs would improve profitability and help decrease transactions' costs for clients, which could help firms' growth. Lee and Isa (2017) claimed that most financial firms would offer different financial products and services as noninterest products to diversify sources of income, which might improve firms' profitability.

According to Abdel-Razzaq (2018), profitability determinants are divided into two categories, internal determinants and external determinants. Necessary expenses for firms' operations which are controlled by management are considered internal determinants of profitability (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). Economic conditions as new regulations could be considered external determinants of profitability (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). The presence of asymmetric information increases transaction costs, which requires the existence of an institution that specializes in assessing a market risk and improve the allocation of a firm's resources (Abdel-Razzaq, 2018). Nega (2017) noted that the growth of a firm's profitability is a useful indicator for the firm's managers and investors to see how well managers in the firm can convert investable resources into profits. Nega argued that while a firm's managers might increase profitability by borrowing funds, debts' costs could become too high that ROA's ratio might decline.

Transition

Section 1 of this study includes the problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, research question, theoretical framework, and the significance of the study. The regulatory compliance costs and operation costs have an influence on the profitability of credit unions (Joo et al., 2017). A review of the literature included analyzing previous academic research, which provided information about regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability of financial institutions. In section 2, I identified and discussed (a) the role of the researcher, (b) participants, (c) research method, (d) research design, (e) population and sampling, (f) ethical research, (g) instrumentation, (h) data collection technique, (i) data analysis, and (j)study validity. In section 3, I provided the results of the study, which included discussions of the findings, implications for social change, and recommendations for future research.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

My purpose in this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The independent variables were regulatory compliance cost and operating cost and the dependent variable was profitability. The target population consisted of federally insured credit unions in the state of Texas. The implications for positive social change include that some credit union managers might improve decision-making processes related to current and future operations and investments, which could increase profitability and contribute to the financial prosperity of employees, employees' families, communities, and local economies.

Role of the Researcher

Fusch and Ness (2015) stated that the role of a researcher includes data collection, storage, and data analysis. Fusch and Ness argued that the role of a researcher should demonstrate the richness of information gleaned from data, which would assert that relevant data collection methods were used, and the researcher has the best opportunity to answer the research question. The role of the researcher in a quantitative study is to act objectively as an independent assessor who collects, analyzes, and interprets data to answer the research question (Moon, 2015). Robust data collection processes could provide researchers with objectivity and generalizability, which asserts the accuracy of researchers' findings and interpretations (Caruth, 2013; Moon, 2015). Before data can be

analyzed, the researcher needs to define which data sets to look at, how to access data sets, and which tools to use to analyze data (Moon, 2015). When conducting regression analysis, the researcher should have a full understanding of tools used in the analysis process as the researcher's actions and decisions during a research are crucial to findings Huang, Ozdenerol, & Sunderman, 2019; Moon, 2015). I relied on available archived governmental financial reports from the NCUA's website without interacting with human participants. Quantitative researchers may rely on the development of empirical measurement instruments and procedures to collect data and presume analytical conclusions (Caruth, 2013; Temtime, 2016; Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012).

My relationship with the topic has evolved as my search of the phenomenon began to narrow along with positive feedback from colleagues. I began to access online archived data from the NCUA's website, which bound my relationship with the topic, because I noticed a pattern of decline in the number of credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets. Other than being a member of a credit union as an account holder, I have no other relationship with a credit union.

The *Belmont Report* was written in 1978 by the National Commission for Protection of Human Services of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services [DHHS], 2016). Sims (2010) claimed that the purpose of the *Belmont Report* is to protect subjects and participants in research studies. *Belmont Report* has three principles, which are (a) beneficence, (b) justice, and (c) respect for persons. Campbell and Morris (2017) noted beneficence refers that researchers should not do harm to participants while conducting research. Researchers should make the utmost efforts to maximize benefits and minimize risks during research and after completion of studies (Campbell & Morris, 2017; Sims, 2010). The authors at DHHS (2016) stated that justice refers to efforts' researchers make to describe risks and benefits equally, and to disseminate any research findings. DHHS noted respect refers to assurances that people are free to decide either to participate or not to participate in a research. According to DHHS, respect for persons includes two ethical convictions, individuals should be treated as autonomous agents and persons with diminished autonomy are entitled to protection.

Participants

For this study, I used publicly available archived data obtained from the NCUA's website (https://www.ncua.gov). According to Cornelissen (2016), using secondary data analysis helps the generalizability of the study and reduces ethical risks. Behringer, Omohundro, Boswell, Evans, and Ferranti (2014) claimed that the use of secondary data is efficient and appropriate for analysis and conclusions. This study was limited to federally insured credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets and located in the state of Texas. As data from databases of the NCUA was publicly available, gaining access to data for this study did not require permission to use.

Financial data reports as *Call Reports* and *Financial Trends in Federally Insured Credit Unions* from NCUA are subject to audit and validation requirements to ensure data reliability (NCUA, 2017). Morse, Barrett, Mayan, Olson, and Spiers (2002) claimed that statistical software could improve the validity and generalizability of quantitative studies. I did not have human participants in this study. I retrieved secondary data, and I followed appropriate procedures during data retrieval process to ensure that my relationship with the study produces reliable and dependable findings. Glogowska (2011) stated that in quantitative research, researchers should maintain objectivity during the research process to obtain validity and generalizable results.

I retrieved data from credit unions with less than \$10 million in assets for the period from 2010 to 2015. Chakravarty and Grewal (2016) used data during the period of 2001 to 2009 to conduct a quantitative study to examine the significance between variables. Leventis, Dimitropoulos, and Owusu-Ansah (2013) conducted a quantitative correlational study to examine the relationship between the corporate governance and the performance of commercial banks in the United States during the period of 2003 to 2009. Some of the reports that I used to obtain data from NCUA's website included *Summary of Trends by Assets Group*, and *Credit Union Call Report Data*. van Dalsem (2017) used data from credit unions' *Call Report* from NCUA's website to conduct a study on credit unions in the United States. Christopoulos and Gonzalez (2017) used secondary data to conduct a study about credit unions. Additionally, van Rijn (2018) accessed NCUA's website and used the *Call Report* database to get financial information about credit unions for the period from 2010 to 2015. The available resources at the NCUA's website provided me with sufficient data, which assisted me in finding if there was a linear

relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

Research Method

I used the quantitative method for this study. The quantitative method was appropriate. I tested relationships between independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost) and the dependent variable (profitability). Researchers use quantitative methods to measure variables and statistically analyze numerical data (Gravetter & Forzano, 2015). The validity of statistical conclusion is related to findings of quantitative studies, which refers to appropriate use (reliability and validity of measures) of numerical data to conclude if a relationship exists between independent and dependent variables (Venkatesh, Brown, & Bala, 2013). Landrum and Garza (2015) stated that researchers use quantitative methods to examine the extent of relationships between variables by measuring numerical data to verify relationships between variables.

Qualitative researchers focus on collecting and analyzing qualitative data, which is obtained through interviews, participant observations, and analysis of written documents (Diemer, 2016). Southam-Gerow and Dorsey (2014) stated that qualitative data are typically collected using individual interviews, focus groups, and observations involving field notes. Qualitative researchers explore a phenomenon by capturing personal insights of individuals (Isaacs, 2014). Qualitative researchers describe common experiences about a problem to gain an understanding of the problem and use nonnumerical data to explore a phenomenon (Madill, 2015; Yin, 2014). Because I did not explore human behaviors in this study, qualitative method would not help me address the research question

The mixed methods approach involves a combination of quantitative and qualitative methodologies in the same study (Yilmaz, 2013). According to Johnson (2015), mixed method is used where researchers collect and analyze data, integrate the findings, and draw inferences using qualitative and quantitative methods. The mixed method was inappropriate for this study as I only needed the quantitative method to analyze numerical data and explain results of this study.

Research Design

A correlational design was the most appropriate to examine relationships between variables and answer this study's research question. Quantitative researchers measure variables and test hypotheses to determine the significance of relationships between independent and dependent variables (Curtis, Comisky, & Dempsey, 2016). The correlational design involves using variables from a specified population with no manipulation of variables (Rucker, McShane, & Preacher, 2015). Alves, Couto, and Francisco (2016) conducted research using correlational design to examine the relationship between independent variables (ROE and total shareholder return) and the dependent variable (total chief executive officer compensation).

The traditional experimental design was not appropriate for this study as the experimental design often involves the manipulation of variables to understand how one variable affects other variables (Rucker et al., 2015). Researchers conduct traditional

experimental design to find the ideal values of variables that support a significance causeeffect relationship, rather than finding the relationship between variables (Callao, 2014). The traditional experimental designs result in a systemic approach to quantitative data collection involving mathematical models in the analyses (Williams, 2007). Experimental research is often used where there is time priority in a causal relationship (cause precedes effect), there is consistency in a causal relationship (a cause will always lead to the same effect), and the magnitude of the correlation is great (Einhorn & Hogarth, 1986). The classic experimental design specifies an experimental group and a control group (Kenny, 1975). The independent variable is administered to the experimental group and not to the control group, and both groups are measured on the same dependent variable (Kenny, 1975). Subsequent experimental designs have used more groups and more measurements over longer periods (Tehrani, 2016; Yilmaz, 2013). True experiments must have control, randomization, and manipulation (Yilmaz, 2013).

The causal-comparative design is usually used to test causal relationships (Cook, 2015). Researchers use causal-comparative designs in studies where a comparison of variables between groups is involved (Boyko, 2013). Schenker and Rumrill (2004) stated that researchers use causal-comparative studies to examine the magnitude of differences between or among groups, and generally, the independent variables used in causal-comparative designs consist of demographic or status characteristics as gender, race, or educational level. Using causal-comparative design was not optimal to address the research question. The focus of this study was to examine the relationship between
independent and dependent variables without manipulating variables or determining the significance of a cause-effect relationship.

Population and Sampling

Population

The population of this study was archival data from federally insured credit unions in the state of Texas with less than \$10 million in assets. The archival data for this correlational study was collected from the NCUA's website (https://www.ncua.gov), which is available to the general public and subject to oversight and auditing measures. This population aligned with my overarching research question about if a relationship existed between the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost) and the dependent variable (profitability).

Sampling

In this study, I used the probabilistic simple random sampling. According to Etikan, Musa, and Alkassim (2015), probabilistic simple random is defined with distinguishing characteristics as each unit in the population has a chance of being selected in the sample. The sample should be randomized as the selected sample should be representative of the population (Andersen et al., 2015). Palinkas et al. (2015) stated that in a quantitative study, a representation of the population is essential to the generalization of results to other populations.

One strength of using simple random is that researchers could decrease the likelihood of selection bias and minimize the potential for skewed findings (Kandola,

Banner, O'Keefe-McCarthy, & Jassal, 2014; Peterson & Merunka, 2014). According to Kandola et al. (2014), researchers using probabilistic simple random require minimal knowledge of the target population, which is considered a strength of using simple random. An advantage of the probabilistic sampling method is that researchers could make strong representations of the target population (Filipowska, Kaczmarek, Kowalkiewicz, Zhou, & Born, 2009). The selection of each member in the sample is not affected by the selection of other members (Lewis, 1975). One weakness of using simple random is that researchers using probabilistic simple random cannot reach optimal findings within any fixed numbers of evaluations, which could be considered a weakness (Annaiyappa, 1991). Another weakness of using a simple random is that researchers might need a sizable sample to attain representativeness (Sproull, 1988).

I used the G*Power version 3.1.9 to compute the sample size. G*Power is free software researchers use to perform statistical power analysis to determine sample size (Macfarlane et al., 2015). Determination of the sample size in a quantitative study is necessary for explaining the statistical significance between variables (Field, 2013). In quantitative studies, increasing the sample size increases the power level, which reduces the probability of obtaining a Type 1 and Type 2 errors (Tomczak & Tomczak, 2014). Researchers use *a priori* power analysis to estimate the sample size before conducting research (Walum, Waldman, & Young, 2016). Tomczak and Tomczak (2014) stated that in the planning phase of a research, researchers should anticipate an effect size to estimate the sample size for a given power level (1- β) and significance level (α).

According to Tomczak and Tomczak, a small effect size could lead to the requirement of a large sample size to reach a certain statistical significance level, while a large effect size could lead to small sample size. Tomczak and Tomczak stated that the most popular estimates of effect size include correlation coefficient as the *Pearson's* correlation coefficient. Walum et al. (2016) suggested using a standardized *Cohen's* effect sizes of 0.1 for small, 0.3 for medium, and 0.5 for large effect size.

In other studies, researchers calculated sample size based on α = 0.05; power levels (1- β) = 0.80; and anticipated medium effect size= 0.2 (Bosco, Aguinis, Singh, Field, & Pierce, 2015). Bosco et al. (2015) detected different correlational studies with the effect size ranging from 0.10 to 0.80. Moore (2014) conducted the study with a value of effect size at 0.498 and suggested using a larger sample size to reach generalizable findings. Heron (2015) used an effect size of 0.35 to study the relationship between officers' compensation and financial performance of firms.

I conducted *a priori* power analysis using the following values to calculate the sample size α =0.05; power level(1- β) = 0.80; anticipated effect size =0.2. Based on the previously mentioned values to calculate the sample size, the minimum sample size calculated by the G*Power was 42 (see Appendix A). I increased the sample size to 52 to reduce potential effects of any violations of assumptions.

Ethical Research

Ethical researchers should demonstrate receptiveness, openness, and fairness to participating human subjects regarding the acquisition of informed consents (Simon,

Klein, & Schartz, 2014). Researchers should provide informed consent forms when researching human subjects (Dolan, 2015). Data for this study were retrieved from archival publicly available sources. During the data retrieval process, I did not need informed consent to retrieve the archival data as accessing data from archival sources was available to the general public. In this study, I did not have any participants as I used secondary data.

Offering incentives that might influence participants' statements or answers of questions could be unethical (Ploug & Holm, 2015). However, according to Bernstein and Feldman (2015), researchers have offered incentive payments ranging from \$10 to \$195 to encourage participants to enroll in studies and enhance participants' follow-up. According to Barker (2013), research protocols are based on (a) privacy and confidentiality, (b) informed consent, (c) protection of vulnerable groups, and (d) the avoidance of any harm. Obtaining the approval from the Institutional Review Board (IRB) is a necessary step to ensure compliance with ethical standards of Walden University, which could help researchers avoid conducting unethical studies. Researchers should protect names of participants or organizations to minimize the risk of harming participants or organizations. Describing detailed procedures on how a researcher intends to protect the confidentiality of participants and organizations could increase a participant's confidence in participating in studies and improve the quality of information obtained during interviews. As the data collection process in this study was based on

secondary data, and human subjects were not involved, concerns related to incentives for participants were not applicable.

The informed consent contains an emphasis on the ethical aspect of the relationship participants have with the study, risk and benefits, and the rights of participants to withdraw from the study by emailing a written request (Warriner et al., 2016). The informed consent encompasses a statement to ensure confidentiality and withdraw instructions. The voluntary agreement should stress on information related to the informed consent form, which assures the flexibility of participants to withdraw at any time without any risk or harm (Dolan, 2015). As I used secondary data in this study, the withdrawal of participants was not applicable.

When participants are involved in a study, a researcher can protect names of participants or organizations by conducting interviews in a private setting and save data and the study's information in a secured place that is locked or on a password-protected computer that is only accessed by authorized users. Using codes on data documents instead of recording identifying information could maintain the confidentiality of participants and organizations (Borgatti & Molina, 2005). Also, a researcher can help protect participants and organizations' identity by ensuring that only authorized people can access names or interviews' information, and names of participants and organizations are not mentioned in the study. Assigning a specific letter for each participant or organization and assigning a password to saved files are additional ways a researcher can use to protect the privacy of participants and organizations (Orumwense, 2018). Ethical considerations include the protection of all participants in a study from any possible harm, ensuring that participation is voluntary, and protecting participants' privacy and confidentiality (Connelly, 2014). Linder, Elek, and Calderon (2014) discussed concerns regarding ethical challenges researchers might face about maintaining the confidentiality of participants. As I did not have participants for this study, and secondary data was publicly available, I did not need to protect organizations by excluding identities or any information in any part of this study. Data used in this analysis were stored on an internal hard drive of a password-protected computer during the study period. Data were also stored in the cloud with a password-protected access during the study period and will be stored for another period of at least 5 years after the study's completion date. After the 5 years of competing this study, I will destroy data by deleting data files from the cloud and I will physically destroy the hard drive by formatting the hard drive. The IRB approval number for this study is 08-13-19-0736714.

Instrumentation

I used Microsoft Excel as the instrument for storing, filtering, and processing data. I used Microsoft Excel version 2016, which is part of Microsoft Office 365. Microsoft Excel was appropriate because I relied on numerical data to conduct the study. Toews (2015) used Microsoft Excel to record and organize data for a study on credit unions. Toews utilized Microsoft Excel to perform statistical procedures using IBM statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) statistics. Temtime (2016) used Microsoft Excel as an instrument to import and prepare data about working capital, policies, and profitability of small manufacturing firms, and then used the data in IBM SPSS Statistics to perform statistical analyses. As data from the NCUA's website was downloadable in a format that was compatible with Microsoft Excel, I did not need to modify the format or settings of the instrument, which improve the validity and reliability of the mentioned instrument.

The measurement scale for all variables in this study was the ratio scale of measurement. According to Lakens (2013), analysis of ratio data is useful for addressing quantitative research questions for correlational studies. Heale and Twycross (2015) stated that researchers should evaluate the validity of the instrument used in the study to ensure that the instrument measures what is required to be measured. The reliability of the instrument affects the quality of the study, which relates to the stability and consistency of the instrument (Heale & Twycross, 2015). The concepts that I measured with the mentioned instrument were regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability, which were downloaded to Microsoft Excel sheet from the NCUA's website.

According to Hamann, Schiemann, Bellora, and Guenther (2013), reliability and validity analysis are ways of representing the accuracy of research instruments and the trustworthiness of the findings. Du and Zhou (2012) defined reliability as the degree to which a measure is free from any random errors and produces similar results in different circumstances. Engberg and Berben (2012) stated that the test-retest reliability is the consecutive stability of a test from one session to another. Reliability of secondary data

sources derives from the credibility given to entities providing databases and reports (Tasic & Feruh, 2012). Parker (2012) claimed that researchers need to ensure that secondary sources are free from material error and bias. Parker stated that secondary data sources should contain all information necessary to measure what needed to be measured consistently. Tasic and Feruh (2012) argued that a reliable secondary data would give same results consistently and repeatedly. According to Johnston (2014), if publicly traded and regulated entities adhere to legal and financial reporting requirements, the use of archived financial reports stands the test of reliability. Boyd, Bergh, Ireland, and Ketchen (2013) argued that independent auditing, verification, and attesting processes are some quality indicators for financial reports of regulated firms. However, computational errors, sample inadequacy, and missing data can affect the reliability and quality of data (Butler, Martin, Perryman, & Upson, 2012).

Instrument reliability relates to the internal consistency of the instrument used in the study (Patterson et al., 2018). In this study, I used Microsoft Excel to collect data. As I used secondary data for this study, the reliability of the instrument was not a concern. Data for this study were obtained from the NCUA's databases. Financial statements and annual reports from the NCUA's databases are reliable as the NCUA is subject to governmental regulations and annual audits (Magro, 2016). This study involved analysis of archival data from financial reports that were publicly available. I did not need a permission to collect data except for IRB approval as NACU's databases were not proprietary and there were no human participants during the data-collection process. As the mentioned instrument was part of Microsoft Office 365 which I have a license to use, I did not need permission to use the instrument in this study.

Data Collection Technique

Data collection method in this study involved collecting data from secondary data sources. The research question for this study was: Does a predictive relationship exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions? Data for this study were collected from NCUA's databases. Before downloading data from the NCUA's database, I identified relevant data needed to answer the research question. Identifying relevant data for this study involved determining the specific timeperiod mentioned in the study (2010 to 2015) and data that could affect costs and profitability of credit unions. Then, I accessed NCUA's website at https://www.ncua.gov to download the required data from Call Reports. According to NCUA (2017), goal performance measurements utilizing *Call Reports* were developed as examiners at NCUA can obtain financial information periodically, and the reports provide the most complete and reliable database for NCUA. According to NCUA (2017), all federally insured credit unions must file a 5300 *Call Report* with NCUA on a quarterly basis using credit union online, which is a web-based program used by credit unions' managers and state supervisory agencies to submit and certify operational and quarterly financial information to NCUA and, where examiners can review financial reports for accuracy. NCUA is an independent federal agency that ensures deposits at federally insured credit unions, protects the members who own credit unions, and charters and regulates federal credit

unions (NCUA, 2017). NCUA's database compiles data on credit union system's financial performance, merger activities, and economic trends that can affect the safety and soundness of federally insured credit unions (NCUA, 2017). *Financial Performance Reports* are a financial summary for a credit union, which include (a) assets, (b) liabilities, (c) capital, (d) income, and (e) expenses (NCUA, 2017). Users may request *Financial Performance Reports* shortly after credit union's *Call Report* data has been submitted and validated by regulators (NCUA, 2017). *Call Report* data files are compressed files and must be uncompressed using a compatible program as WinZip (NCUA, 2017).

After I obtained the IRB's approval, I collected data through electronic retrieval of financial statements from 52 credit unions from NCUA's databases from 2010 to 2015. This data collection technique was similar to the method investors and financial analysts use to evaluate the financial performance of publicly traded companies (Johnston, 2014). The first step in secondary data collection is to ensure that sources contain relevant data to answer the research question (Hamann et al., 2013). An orderly collection of financial data is important to ensure that researchers have reliable data that offers a solid foundation for rigorous analysis (Tasic & Feruh, 2012). The collected data was limited to (a) federally credit unions in the state of Texas, (b) with less than \$10 million in assets, and (c) data for the 2010 to 2015. I accessed the online NCUA's website at https://www.ncua.gov, and then accessed the *Call Reports* section to collect raw data. The second step in data collection included (a) importing the data into Microsoft Excel,

(b) organizing the relevant data for all variables from 2010 to 2015, and (c) importing the values to SPSS for analysis. I used Microsoft Excel to organize data for this study. The gathered data was organized in Microsoft Excel by (a) credit union name, (b) charter number, (c) state, (d) total asset size, and (e) accounts' types (i.e. expense accounts).

Retrieving secondary data from electronic databases has both advantages and disadvantages. Johnston (2014) stated that gathering secondary data is inexpensive as researchers could bypass instrument creation and data collection stages by drawing data from existing sources. Researchers use secondary data sources to overcome the problem of accessing the research data and gathering sensitive information (Johnston, 2014). Parker (2012) reported that secondary data saves time and financial resources by supplementing primary data. Johnston also argued that secondary data could minimize biases. Butler et al. (2012) claimed that the use of secondary data without involving human subjects minimizes threats to ethical principles. According to Eckford and Barnett (2016), collecting online data has benefits as avoiding the need for primary data entry and saving the cost of instrument administration. Li et al. (2015) asserted that electronic forms of data collection make data collection process easier than paper forms and improve data reliability. According to Wohlin and Aurum (2015), researchers who might have difficulties with accessing human participants might choose to collect archival data for analysis. On the other hand, secondary data has limitations. Researchers collecting data from archival databases could suffer from missing or incomplete data, which might not contain all the information needed to address the research problem under

investigation (Johnston, 2014). Tasic and Feruh (2012) stated that sometimes secondary data might not precisely align with the area of the research construct, which could generate biased data. Even though using secondary data in research might be cost effective and efficient, secondary data can be outdated, definitions for variables could change over time, and datasets could be incomplete, which could limit the scope and accuracy of research (Behringer et al., 2014).

Leon, Davis, and Kraemer (2011) stated that conducting a pilot study could increase the feasibility of a research study and simplify techniques for data collection and analysis. Original quantitative instruments require use of a pilot study to produce validity and reliability data. As I did not use an original instrument, a pilot study is not applicable. Lancaster (2015) stated that the primary function of a pilot study is to evaluate the possibility of success and threats to the validity of a study.

Data Analysis

The research question and hypotheses of the study were as follows:

Does a linear relationship exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions?

 H_0 : A significant linear relationship does not exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

 H_{l} : A significant linear relationship does exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions.

Regression analysis is a statistical technique that helps researchers to explore relationships between numerically measured independent and dependent variables, which could help researchers predict one variable based on values of other variables (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014). According to Armor, Cotla, and Stratmann (2017), regression analysis allows researchers to identify how a change in an independent variable might affect the dependent variable.

In this study, I conducted a linear multiple regression analysis. The multiple regression analysis was appropriate for this study as the research question was about a predictive relationship that might exist between independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost) and the dependent variable (profitability of credit unions). Multiple regression is the appropriate method of quantitative analysis when there are two or more independent variables as researchers use regression analysis to measure relationships between two or more variables (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014; Zvizdojević & Vukotić, 2015). Correlation and regression analyses are used to measure linear relationships between two variables. According to Aggarwal and Ranganathan (2017), correlational analysis measures the strength of a relationship between variables, while regression analysis predicts the relationship between two variables. Selection of correlational analysis depends upon the research question and the level of measurement (ordinal, interval, or ratio) of variables (Curtis et al., 2016). As variables in this study were ratio scale levels of measurement, the linear multiple regression analysis was suitable. According to Tabachnick and Fidell (2013), selecting a statistical analysis

technique depends on the type of research question, the number of constructs and variables in the study, and the scale of measurement. In quantitative research, researchers use measurement and statistical analysis of numerical data to explain data and employ regression analyses to measure linear relationships between variables (Schrodt, 2014).

ANOVA is another statistical test researchers' use. ANOVA is used to compare mean differences between samples (Tarlow, 2016). ANOVA is a test that is suitable when the dependent is variable continuous, while independent variables are categorical (Hesamian, 2016). As the independent variables in this study were not categorial, and there was no need to examine mean and group differences between samples, ANOVA test was not appropriate for this study. Bivariate linear regression is used to determine if the independent variable can predict the independent variable and can only be used when a study has one independent variable and one dependent variable (Halabí & Lussier, 2014). As I have more than one independent variable, the bivariate linear regression was not appropriate for this study. Researchers use discriminant analysis when the dependent variable is categorical (Seng, 2016). Also, researchers use discriminant analysis to test the relationship between variables and to classify variables into groups based on one or more measures (Orcher, 2014). The discriminant analysis was not appropriate for this study as none of my variables are categorical and I did not need to group variables. Researchers use factor analysis to explain correlation patterns within variable sets (Weaver & Maxwell, 2014). According to Weaver and Maxwell (2014), factor analysis is appropriate in identifying the small number of factors that explain the major variance

observed in many variables. Factor analysis was not appropriate for this study as I did not have variable sets in this study.

According to Slater, Joksimovic, Kovanovic, Baker, and Gasevic (2017), data cleaning procedures involve identifying and removing values from the data set that appear incorrect or inconsistent with the study. The data cleaning process includes identifying and removing outliers or errors (Fatima, Nazir, & Khan, 2017). During research, researchers may have to deal with situations of missing data. Data cleaning process includes examining and identifying any missing records or invalid components in data sets. Hashem et al. (2015) postulated that data cleaning is an important step in the research process. The purpose of data cleaning is to minimize complications by correcting invalid data or removing missing records (Kongara & Punyasesudu, 2015). Researchers may utilize the traditional method (loading into a spreadsheet) or certain tools for cleaning data such as Google OpenRefine and Data Wrangler by Stanford Visualization Group (Batrinca & Treleaven, 2015). Li et al. (2015) stated that innovative data collection tools could make data cleaning process efficient when involving a large amount of raw data. When I loaded data into a spreadsheet, I looked for missing values or information that could influence the hypothesized question. I organized data in the spreadsheet to make visual inspection of data easier, which helped me in identifying opportunities to replace missing values or to swap values or descriptions of data when necessary. I utilized available tools as find and replace in Microsoft Excel to clean data prior to exporting values to SPSS, which helped in generating accurate results.

Microsoft Excel can be used to replace missing values, exclude outliers, and formatting and centering data (Toews, 2015). I used Microsoft Excel to filter and organize data before exporting to SPSS. Missing data could have an effect on the validity of the study. There are different methods to deal with missing values. Missing data in a study could introduce bias, make the handling and analysis of data more difficult, and reduces efficiency. Cheema (2014) stated that case deletion and imputation-based methods are common missing data handling approaches, where researchers can simply discard those records with missing data or replace them. Cheema stated that using inappropriate handling approaches of missing data might result in poorly estimated parameters and reduced power of analysis. Ebrahim et al. (2014) stressed that poor handling of missing data could result in poor generalization of a study. According to Aste, Boninsegna, Freno, and Trentin (2015), researchers could resolve missing data problems by deleting the whole case (entire row in the dataset) in quantitative study. While deleting cases of missing data in a study could affect the sample size, substituting missing data with a mean could underestimate the variance (Leys, Ley, Klein, Bernard, & Licata, 2013). According to Osborne (2012), researchers using the mean substitution method could substitute any missing value with the mean as the mean is considered the best estimate of missing values. In this study, missing data was not an issue as secondary data for this study was retrieved from NCUA's databases, which is regulated and audited on regular basis.

According to Hopkins and Ferguson (2014), assumptions of relationships between independent and dependent variables are (a) linearity, (b) homoscedasticity, (c) independence of residuals, and (d) normality of distribution. According to Pallant (2016), normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity of data distribution are assumptions for multiple linear regression analysis, which represent certain patterns respectively in statistical plotting. Jeong and Jung (2016) stated that the assumption of linearity indicates that the relationship between independent and dependent variables is linear. The scatter plot is a feature in SPSS which is important to check for normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity. If a scatter plot of values of residuals against the outcome of predicted values shows a clear pattern, then linearity assumption is violated (Field, 2013). Homoscedasticity's assumption is the condition when random errors have equal variances (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014). In regression analysis, it is assumed that at each level of the independent variables, variances of the residuals should be constant (Field, 2013). The constancy of the variances in this manner is referred to as homoscedasticity, while the absence of constancy is referred to as heteroscedasticity (Field, 2013). Independence of residuals refers to the assumption when observations between groups are independent (Zvizdojević & Vukotić, 2015). The assumption of normal distribution is the situation where distribution of residuals has normal distribution (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014). Boesch, Schwaninger, Weber, and Scholz (2013) postulated that multicollinearity is a condition when independent variables in a study are highly correlated (0.90 or greater). Researchers can examine multicollinearity by

observing the correlation coefficients among the independent variables from the SPSS output on the correlation matrix (Boyd et al., 2013).

Data assumptions could be a threat to the validity of a study. Statistical analyses depend on different assumptions about data distribution. When data assumptions are violated, the validity of statistical conclusion could be affected (Solomon, Howard, & Stein, 2015). Multiple linear regression analyses share a few assumptions with other types of analyses like normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity (Pallant, 2016). Researchers should not assume the normality of data and could use other methods as bootstrapping for resampling purposes (Acharya, Prakash, Saxena, & Nigam, 2013; Bro & Smilde, 2014). Banjanovic and Osborne (2016) postulated that researchers could use bootstrapping method for resampling when an assumption of data is violated. Syntetos, Babai, and Gardner (2015) stated that normality, homoscedasticity, linearity, or other assumptions of data can be tested on a scatterplot, and violations may be corrected using bootstrapping. Arya (2016) and Sillabutra et al. (2016) claimed that bootstrapping technique is a nonparametric test that randomly resamples data and is used to validate regression models. Researchers apply bootstrapping methods to estimate reliable statistics when data normality assumptions are violated, and when there are questions concerning the validity of the usual distribution and assumptions (Cohen, Cohen, West, & Aiken, 2013).

In SPSS version 24, the usual default significance level is set at .05, which is a typical level that is considered statistically significant (Ives, 2015). The result of p value

78

(p < .05) would mean that the dependent variable has a good fit in the model to influence the dependent variable, which will suggest that the null hypothesis is unlikely to be true. The estimated effect size for the study is .20 as an input of G*Power *a priori* power analysis to calculate the required sample size. The confidence level measures how much of samples may contain true parameters from the population. Hedge, Powell, and Sumner (2017) stated that a simple way to calculate the confidence interval is 100% * (1- α). The confidence interval in this study is 95%.

In a regression analysis, the regression coefficient represents how sensitive the change of the dependent variable is when one of the independent variables' changes (Hedge et al., 2017). Therefore, a high regression coefficient will mean that variables in the study have a strong predictive relationship. When completing the linear multiple regression analysis, results of tests could support a response of whether to accept or reject predefined hypotheses, which will provide the legitimacy to answer the research question. If the result of p value is less than the significance level, as assumed, the test will be significant, which will indicate a rejection of the null hypothesis and acceptance of the alternative hypothesis.

Study Validity

There are two kinds of validity, internal and external. According to Zellmer-Bruhn, Caligiuri, and Thomas (2016), internal validity refers to the extent to which results of studies support a causal relationship between variables. When researchers use an experimental design, internal validity could be at risk (Zellmer-Bruhn et al., 2016). As this study was a quantitative correlational study, internal validity should not be a concern. Researchers using simple random sampling might achieve high internal and external validity (Delost & Nadder, 2014; Kandola et al., 2014). However, concerns about statistical conclusion validity might exist (Kratochwill & Levin, 2014).

Statistical conclusion validity is the use of appropriate statistics to make inferences about the association between dependent and independent variables (Lachmann, Trapp, & Trapp, 2017). According to Taylor and Spurlock (2018), failing to address threats to statistical conclusion validity could lead to faulty statistical inferences as Type I or Type II errors. Green and Salkind (2014) stated that Type I error refers to the probability of rejecting a true null hypothesis, and Type II error refers to the probability of accepting a factually false null hypothesis. Factors that could affect the statistical conclusion validity are (a) reliability of the instrument, (b) data assumptions, and (c) sample size (Emerson, 2015).

According to Patterson et al. (2018), the reliability of the instrument is associated with the internal consistency of the instrument used in the study. As I used secondary data in this study, and I did not use an instrument to collect data, internal consistency in this study should not be a concern. Data for this study were obtained from financial data reports from NCUA's databases. Financial reports from NCUA's databases are subject to audit and validation requirements to ensure the reliability of data (NCUA, 2017).

There are specific assumptions when using multiple linear regression analyses. Normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity of data distribution are assumptions for multiple linear regression analysis (Pallant, 2016). According to Jeong and Jung (2016), the assumption of linearity specifies that the relationship between independent and dependent variables is linear. The scatterplot is a feature in SPSS researchers can use to check for normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity (Syntetos et al., 2015). I tested the linearity of data in this study by visually examining the scatterplots. According to Leys et al. (2013), outliers can influence the results of a regression analysis, and researchers can use a histogram to identify any outliers.

According to Field (2013), determining the sample size in a quantitative study is important for researchers to help explain the statistical significance between variables. Tomczak and Tomczak (2014), claimed that increasing the sample size in quantitative studies would increase the power level, which decreases the probability of getting Type 1 and Type 2 errors. Walum et al. (2016) stated that researchers should use *a priori* power analysis to calculate the sample size. Tomczak and Tomczak stated that in the planning phase of research, researchers need to choose an effect size to estimate the sample size for a given power level (1- β) and significance level (α). In this study, I used the G*Power version 3.1.9 to calculate the sample size (see appendix A).

External validity is the extent to which the study findings may be generalized to larger populations, different settings, and different measurements (Zellmer-Bruhn et al., 2016). Palinkas et al. (2015) argued that using a probability sampling strategy could increase the generalizability of a study (external validity). According to McKenzie and Woodruff (2014), one strategy researchers can use to overcome threats to external

validity is to obtain an adequate sample size that is a representative of the target population. Bevan, Baumgartner, Johnson, and McCarthy (2013) stated that if a sample does not represent the target population adequately, a selection bias may be a threat to external validity. Researchers cannot generalize the findings from a biased sample to the larger population (Bevan et al., 2013).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 contains a plan to conduct research regarding the determination of a predictive relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operations cost, and profitability of credit unions. In section 2, I discussed (a) the role of researchers, (b) participants, (c) research methods and design, (d) population and sampling, (e) ethical research, (f) instrumentation, (g) data collection and analysis, and (h) the study validity. In Section 2, I explained the rationale for selecting a quantitative correlational study. I explained from where data were obtained, and how I used the instrument (Microsoft Excel) to download and clean the data before transferring data to SPSS for analyses. Section 3 contains the presentation of the study's findings, application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for further research, reflections, and a conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

My purpose in this quantitative correlational study was to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The independent variables were regulatory compliance cost and operating cost and the dependent variable was profitability. From the results of the statistical analysis, there was a significant linear relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions, based on data of a sample size with a decent generalizability to the population.

Presentation of Findings

The overreaching research question was: Does a linear relationship exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions? The statistical analysis of sample data of regulatory compliance cost, regulation cost, and profitability of credit unions produced some perspectives. Details of the statistical analysis findings in this section include (a) the testing of assumptions, (b) descriptive statistics, (c) inferential statistics results, and (d) a theoretical conversation pertaining to the findings.

Tests of Assumptions

The data preparation and the preliminary analysis of data were important procedures before the actual statistical analysis. Multiple linear regression analyses share a few assumptions with other types of analyses as normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity (Pallant, 2016). According to Pallant (2016), normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity of data distribution are assumptions for multiple linear regression analysis. SPSS (Version 24) software was used for testing the assumptions of normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, outliers, and multicollinearity.

Normality and linearity. Normality refers to the normal distribution of data, and linearity refers to the assumption of a continuous baseline trend of data (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014). Sample data should be near a normal distribution to comply with parameters of certain statistical tests (Leys et al., 2013). The linearity assumption in multiple regression analysis is the assumption that the dependent variable has a linear relationship with the independent variables (Harrell, 2015). The evaluation for normality, linearity involved examining the histogram of the regression- standardized residuals (see Figure 1) and the normal probability plot (P-P) of the regression standardized residual (see Figure 2). The visual examination of the histogram (see Figure 1) and P-P plot (see Figure 2) did not reveal any major violations of normality, linearity. The visual inspection of the P-P plot shows dots near a diagonal line from the bottom left of the chart to the top right. Psaradakis and Vávra (2018) suggested that examining the skewness of data is an effective way to test normality assumption. To examine the skewness of data in Table 1, I divided the skewness value by the standard error of skewness (.340/.330=1.03), which resulted in a value that is less than 1.96; therefore, the skewness is not significant, and data are normally distributed (see Table 1).

Table 1

Statistics-Skewness		
Profitability-ROE		
Ν	Valid	52
	Missing	0
Skewness		.340
SE of Skewness		.330



Figure 1. The histogram of regression standardized residual.



Normal P-P Plot of Regression Standardized Residual

Figure 2. The normal P-P plot of regression standardized residual.

Homoscedasticity. *Homoscedasticity* refers to a clear pattern of distribution of data (Hopkins & Ferguson, 2014). The absence of the homoscedasticity assumption increases the possibility of a Type I error and erroneous conclusions (Chang, Pal, & Lin, 2017). I used SPSS to test for homoscedasticity. I visually evaluated homoscedasticity by using the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 3). The absence of a clear pattern in the scatterplot of the standardized residuals (see Figure 3) supports the

homoscedasticity assumption. The scatterplot of standardized residuals did not delineate any clear and systematic patterns.



Figure 3. A scatterplot of regression standardized residual.

Outliers. *Outliers* are anomalies in data and outlier observations violate normality, which may be an indicator of bad data (Pallant, 2016). Outliers can also alter the outcome of analysis. Leys et al. (2013) suggested inspecting the boxplot for detecting outliers. The rectangle in the boxplot represents the distribution of most sample data. The line in the middle of the rectangle represents the median value. The bars on the top and bottom of the rectangle flattened to the maximum and minimum values, respectively. Any additional values above or below the bars are considered outliers (Leys et al., 2013). The boxplot (see Figure 4) shows few outliers.



Profitability-ROE



In addition to visually testing the scatterplot of regression standardized residual for homoscedasticity (see Figure 3), and the boxplot for outliers (see Figure 4), I used SPSS to calculate the residuals statistics in Table 2. Cook's distance is used in regression analysis to find influential outliers in a set of predictor variables (Field, 2013). Outliers that have Cook's Distance of <1 were accepted in the data set as these outliers were not

influential enough to change the outcome of the predictive model (Field, 2013). Cook's Distance in Table 2 showed a maximum value of (.123). I also checked the Mahalanobis distances in the data file for any critical chi-square value exceeding 13.82 (see Table 2). The maximum value of the Mahalanobis distances was 15.519 (see Table 2). Based on the review of data and the scatterplot in Figure 6, I found one record with Mahalanobis distance over 13.82 (see Figure 6). As I found no error with the record, and the results of the predictive model would not change, therefore, I did not identify any violation to assumptions of normality, linearity, and homoscedasticity.

Table 2

	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	SE	N
Predicted value	4724	.1727	.0039	.14066	52
Std. predicted value	-3.386	1.200	.000	1.000	52
SE of predicted value	.051	.206	.081	.032	52
Adjusted predicted	4647	.1924	.0042	.14074	52
Value					
Residual	-1.14502	1.24601	.00000	.35556	52
Std. residual	-3.157	3.435	.000	.980	52
Stud. residual	-3.206	3.487	.000	1.000	52
Deleted residual	-1.18082	1.28380	00030	.37038	52
Stud. deleted residual	-3.569	3.980	.006	1.072	52
Mahal. distance	.012	15.519	1.962	2.977	52
Cook's distance	.000	.123	.014	.029	52
Centered leverage	.000	.304	.038	.058	52
Value					

Residuals Statistics

Note. Dependent variable: Profitability-ROE.



Figure 5. A scatterplot shows Cook's Distance.



Figure 6. A scatterplot shows the Mahalanobis distances.

Multicollinearity. *Multicollinearity* occurs when two independent variables are highly correlated. Multicollinearity can lead to unreliable results, large standard errors, and a false null hypothesis not being rejected (Disatnik & Sivan, 2016). Multicollinearity is detected by examining the bivariate relationship between independent variables. The level of correlation between independent variables can be problematic if the values are

too highly correlated (Disatnik & Sivan, 2016). According to Pallant (2016), if values are too high, it can become difficult to assess the effect of the independent variables on the dependent variable. A high correlation usually indicates that multicollinearity assumption has been violated (Boyd et al., 2013). I used the Pearson Correlation test in SPSS to examine multicollinearity (see Table 3). The Pearson Correlation for the independent variables (regulatory costs and operation costs) was (.998), which indicates that the independent variables are highly correlated. Also, the scatterplot (see Figure 7) indicates a high positive correlation between the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost). As the multicollinearity assumption was violated, I increased the sample size from 42 to 52 to minimize potential violations of any statistical assumptions.

Table 3

		Regulatory costs	Operation costs
Regulatory costs	Pearson correlation	1	.998
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.000
	N	52	52
Operation costs	Pearson correlation	.998	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	
	N	52	52

Pearson's Corre	lation Coefficient
-----------------	--------------------

Note. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).



Figure 7. Scatterplot of the independent variables.

Descriptive Statistics

Descriptive statistics provide summarized values of variables, such as mean and standard deviation. Pallant (2016) advised to always check for descriptive statistics to see if values make sense. Descriptive statistics of the study variables appear in Table 4. The total number of data observations was 52 (N=52).

Table 4

Descriptive Statis	stics
--------------------	-------

	Mean	Std. Deviation	N
Profitability-ROE	.0039	.38237	52
Regulatory costs	183181.7412	133194.24510	52
Operation costs	1027733.5580	761977.52260	52

Inferential Results

I used standard multiple linear regression with a two-tailed significance level of 5% ($\alpha = .05$) to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation costs, and profitability of credit unions. The independent variables were regulatory compliance cost and operation cost and the dependent variable was profitability. The null hypothesis was: A significant linear relationship does not exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The alternative hypothesis was: A significant linear relationship does exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. The alternative hypothesis was: A significant linear relationship does exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. I conducted preliminary analysis to assess possible violations of the assumptions of standard regression analysis such as normality, linearity, homoscedasticity, and multicollinearity. The multicollinearity assumption was violated as there were no data to measure regulatory compliance costs except as a percentage of total non-interest expense, which created a high correlation between the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost). The model was able to significantly predict profitability of credit

unions, F(2, 49) = 3.834, p = .028. The effect size which is measured by R^2 indicated that the linear combination of the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost) explained 13.5% of variations in profitability (see Table 5).

Table 5

Model Summary

				Change statistics			
			Adjusted R				Sig. F
Model	R	R Square	Square	F Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.368ª	.135	.100	3.834	2	49	.028

Even though the multiple regression model rejected the null hypothesis, and as of the violation of multicollinearity, the coefficients of the independent variables in the multiple regression analysis returned inaccurate betas (see Table 6). The coefficient calculations for the multiple regression analysis showed a positive coefficient for regulatory compliance cost and a negative coefficient for operation cost. Based on the multiple regression model, the standardized beta (β) for regulatory costs = 1.382, which means that for every 1% increase in profitability, there is a 1.382% increase in regulatory cost; however, according to Pearson correlation, both independent variables have negative correlation with profitability. The Pearson correlation for regulatory costs was 0.355, which indicates that for a 1% increase in regulatory costs, profitability will decrease by 0.355%. Additionally, the coefficient of independent variable (operation cost) was -0.360, which indicates that for every 1% increase in operation cost, profitability will decrease by 0.36% (see Table 6 and Table 7). Even though a
combination of the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation costs) were statistically significant to predict profitability in the multiple regression analysis model, as of the multicollinearity violation noted earlier, regulatory compliance cost alone was not statistically significant (t=.57, p=.569). Also, operation cost alone was not statistically significant to account for the rejection of the null hypothesis (t=-.721, p=.474).

Table 6

Coefficients

		Unstandardized		Standardized		
		coefficients		coefficients		
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	.174	.089		1.960	.056
	Regulatory costs	3.968E-6	.000	1.382	.573	.569
	Operation costs	-8.732E-7	.000	-1.740	721	.474

Table 7

Correlations

		Profitability- ROE	Regulatory costs	Operation costs
Profitability-ROE	Pearson correlation	1	355**	360**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		.010	.009
	N	52	52	52
Regulatory costs	Pearson correlation	355**	1	.998**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.010		.000
	N	52	52	52
Operation costs	Pearson correlation	360**	.998**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.009	.000	
	N	52	52	52

Note. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

To calculate the *p* value for each independent variable, while avoiding the effect of the multicollinearity on the *p* values for both variables, I conducted two single regression analysis (see Table 8 and Table 9). According to the single regression analysis, the results of the single regression models both support the rejection of the null hypothesis. For the regulatory cost variable in Table 8, F(1,50) = 7.218, p = .010, and for the operation cost variable in Table 9, F(1,50) = 7.440, p = .009

Table 8

Model Summary-Regulatory Costs

				Change statistics			
		Adjusted R			Sig. F		
Model	R	R Square	Square	F Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.355ª	.126	.109	7.218	1	50	.010

Note. Predictors: Regulatory costs; dependent variable: Profitability-ROE.

Table 9

Model Summary-Operation Costs

				Change statistics			
			Adjusted				Sig. F
Model	R	R Square	R Square	F Change	df1	df2	Change
1	.360ª	.130	.112	7.440	1	50	.009

Note. Predictors: Operation costs; dependent variable: Profitability-ROE.

Regulatory compliance cost. The negative relationship between regulatory compliance cost and profitability is represented by the standardized beta (β =-.355) in Table 10. The negative coefficient of regulatory compliance cost (β =-.355), which means that for \$100 increase in regulatory costs, profitability will decrease by \$35.5. In other words, lowering the regulatory costs of credit unions would increase profitability.

Table 10

				Standardized					
		Unstandardized coefficients coefficients							
Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.			
1	(Constant)	.191	.086		2.226	.031			
	Regulatory costs	-1.020E-6	.000	355	-2.687	.010			
Note Dependent verification Droffitchility DOE									

Coefficients-Regulatory Costs

Note. Dependent variable: Profitability-ROE.

Operation cost. In Table 11 below, the standardized coefficient of operation cost (β =-.360), which shows an inverse relationship between operation cost and profitability. The negative coefficient of operation cost (β =-.360) indicates that for \$100 increase in operation costs, profitability will decrease by \$36. Lowering operation costs of credit unions would increase profitability.

Table 11

		Unstandardized		d		
		coefficients		coefficients		
Model		B Std. Error		Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	.190	.084		2.245	.029
	Operation costs	-1.806E-7	.000	360	-2.728	.009

Coefficients-Operation Costs

Note. Dependent variable: Profitability-ROE.

Analysis summary. My purpose in this study was to examine the relationship between regulatory cost, operation cost, and profitability. I used standard multiple linear regression to examine the significance of the relationship between the independent variables (regulatory compliance cost and operation cost) and the dependent variable (profitability). Assumptions for multiple regression were assessed and violations were noted. The model was able to significantly predict profitability, F(2, 49) = 3.834, p = .028, $R^2 = .135$. The conclusion from this analysis was that regulatory compliance cost and operation cost are significantly associated with profitability.

Theoretical discussion of findings. Based on the results of data analysis, I rejected the null hypothesis that a significant relationship did not exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. Therefore, I accepted the alternative hypothesis that a significant linear relationship did exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions. Regulatory compliance costs and operation costs significantly predicted profitability of credit unions. The findings in this study conformed to the assumptions of FIT. According to He et al. (2016), transaction cost, which is a principal of FIT, affect profitability of financial companies. The findings in this study were in alignment with the effect that regulations costs and operation costs could have on profitability of financial institutions (Calomiris, 2018). According to Calomiris, financial regulations could increase costs for financial institutions, which would lower profitability. Simpson (2017) concluded that increased compliance place constraints on profitability of financial institutions. Increased costs may decrease the number of financial institutions over time, limit profits, and make some financial firms less stable, therefore, sustaining financial challenges for small financial institutions could be more difficult (Simpson, 2017).

Application to Professional Practice

The results of this study can help managers of credit unions to understand the magnitude of the influence regulatory costs and operation costs have on profitability. Business practices may vary based on the type of industry. Based on findings of the regression model, regulatory costs and operation costs had a significant predictive relationship to profitability of credit unions. Managers of credit unions who understand the relationship between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability may be able to implement effective and efficient operational procedures in their firms resulting in efficiency and lower transaction costs (Cuza, 2009). Additionally, understanding of the relationship between regulators to design and assign compliance requirements that are effective and less difficult than the ones that currently exist (Eustache, 2017).

This study's findings could be of value to business leaders by enabling credit union management to improve business profitability. Understanding the relationship between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability could assist management in decision-making and improving management's knowledge of possible future financial benefits (Eustache, 2017). The findings of this study could also enable credit union managers to improve businesses practices by helping management gain better knowledge of allocating valuable resources to increase profit and improve financial opportunities. As most financial institutions exist to generate profit, and managers' capabilities are necessary to improving profitability of financial organizations, the findings of this study could motivate managers of credit unions to design and implement plans that could minimize costs related to compliance and operations, thereby improve profitability. According to Prager (2014), financial performances of organizations can help determine the level of compensations and incentives offered to employees and management. According to Abdullah et al. (2016), obligations to meet regulatory compliance are mainly viewed by business leaders as a financial burden and failing to comply with regulations is not an option, thereby, managers of credit unions need to develop and implement business practices that would reduce costs, thus, improve profitability. Iverson-Long (2014) found that many financial companies added significant staff to implement new regulations. Implementing new regulations could result in operational inefficiencies for financial institutions, which could increase costs of financial services and reduce profitability (Francis, 2013). The results of the study may effectively contribute to business practice by increasing knowledge about the connection between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability of credit unions in the United States.

Implications for Social Change

The implications for positive social change include the potential for a better understanding, by managers, of the significance of the relationship between (regulatory compliance costs, operation costs), and profitability of credit unions. By applying the findings of this study and understanding the significance of the relationship between the variables, credit unions' managers could potentially implement policies that could increase the efficiency of operations, which might improve profitability of credit unions and increase employment opportunities for individuals in local communities. The implications for positive social change for the employees, communities, organizations, and societies comprise the potential improvement in employees' welfare through having employment and growth opportunities by achieving operation efficacy. Managers of credit union could improve decision-making processes related to current and future operations and investments, which might increase profitability and contribute to the financial prosperity of employees, employees' families, communities, and the local economies. According to Lyon (2016), employees who are satisfied with the growth opportunities of their organizations have a positive attitude toward employers' wellbeing, remain long-term with the organization, and maintain positive relationships with their communities, families, organizations, and societies. Financially successful firms can benefit local communities by creating high paying jobs, thus improving families' financial positions, and help reduce the level of poverty (Lyon, 2016).

Recommendations for Action

It is important for business leaders to understand the significance of regulatory compliance costs and operation costs on profitability of financial institutions (Eustache, 2017). Credit unions' managers may use recommendations from this study to help develop effective policies and procedures that could improve profitability, which might lead to growth opportunities and increase wages for employees. Recommendations for actions to reduce the influence of regulatory compliance cost and operation cost on profitability of financial institutions are (a) conduct internal training for employees on how to handle compliance requirements effectively, (b) business leaders can help determine financial transactions that require extra work to meet regulatory compliance, which could assist managers in allocating higher transaction costs to highly regulated financial products to selected locations, (c) assign certain locations that have higher revenue volumes to handle financial products that require extensive compliance as these locations could have more human resources to handle complicated compliance requirements, and, (d) conduct periodic compliance audits to make sure all locations are in compliance with the required regulations, which might eliminate or reduce compliance penalties, thereby improving profitability. Business leaders of financial institutions need to pay attention to the result of this study as the result of this study might be beneficial to managers of credit unions and other financial institutions' managers. Upon the completion of my doctoral degree, this study will be published in the ProQuest dissertation database. Additionally, I plan to publish this study in scholarly journals such as Academy of Management Journal and Journal of Business Research. Upon request, the results of his study will be made available to any financial institutions.

Recommendations for Further Research

In this study, I used data from 2010 to 2015. A recommendation for further research is to examine the relationship between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability using data from other financial institutions such as banks over a recent and more extended period. The absence of independent data for regulatory

compliance costs in this study was a major factor in the violation of the multicollinearity assumption. Pallant (2016) stated that the existence of multicollinearity would jeopardize the regression model. Regulatory compliance costs are part of the operation of most financial institutions, thus, further research into the effect of regulatory compliance costs on operations could help to determine precise data for regulatory costs of financial institutions.

Conducting qualitative studies on the effect of regulatory compliance costs on the operation of financial institutions could help to generate independent data for regulatory compliance costs, which future researchers can use to conduct more quantitative research. This quantitative study examined the relationship between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability; thus, further studies could examine the relationship between other independent variables and may consider regulatory compliance cost as a dependent variable for future studies. Independent variables that future researchers could use to predict regulatory compliance costs are (a) employees' retention rate, (b) employees' training, or (c) employees' wages. Enlarging the sample size in future research could also improve generalizability of results (Nuzzo, 2016).

Reflections

The research process during my doctoral journey has been exciting along with some challenges. During the proposal stage, I expected that there would be numerical data for regulatory compliance costs; however, no discrete data were available. To numerically measure regulatory costs, I had to rely on findings of previous studies, which, based on a study's findings, showed that regulatory compliance cost could be calculated as a percentage of total non-interest expense. Prior to data collection, I thought that Section 3 of the study would be without challenges, but that was not the case. I did not expect any violations of assumptions during data analysis; however, the multicollinearity assumption was violated. One of the challenges was using SPSS effectively to calculate accurate findings. The results of the study met my expectations based on the theoretical framework. I preconceived data collection to be an easy process; however, data cleaning process and utilizing tools available to get data ready to be imported into SPSS were rigorous. One of my personal biases during this study was that I demonstrated an interest from the beginning of the doctoral program to conduct quantitative correlational study. Another personal bias was that I selected the population for my study from the state of Texas, where I live instead of choosing another state. While completing my doctoral study, I have gained valuable skills that would help me as a business owner and as scholar; for example, I improved time management skills which helped me balance my work, school, and family life. Time management skills helped me to cope with work demands and family obligations, while focused on long-term goals as my doctoral degree. Also, I have enhanced my writing skills tremendously as writing was a challenge for me when I started the doctoral program. During the research process, I increased my knowledge of using Microsoft Word and Excel as tools available in Word and Excel helped me to become more efficient during my doctoral study. I enhanced my research skills and I have extended my understanding of quantitative research.

Conclusion

Business leaders and policy makers should be mindful of the relationship between regulatory compliance costs, operation costs, and profitability of financial institutions, and focus on developing effective plans to help reduce these costs and improve financial performances. Increased regulatory and operation costs are financial burdens on small credit unions, which might have contributed to the decline in the number of small credit unions in the United States. To answer the research question for this study, I used multiple linear regression analysis. This study's findings indicated that regulatory compliance costs and operation costs were statistically significant in predicting profitability of credit unions. The model used in this study was able to significantly predict profitability of credit unions, F (2, 49) = 3.834, p = .028. Findings in this study align with FIT's concepts that methods of regulations and transaction costs affect profitability of financial institutions. Based on these findings, I rejected the null hypothesis that a significant relationship did not exist between regulatory compliance cost, operation cost, and profitability of credit unions; thereby, I accepted the alternative hypothesis that a significant linear relationship did exist. Data aligned with and supported previous research that the rise of regulatory and operation costs is significant to influence profitability of financial institutions. Financial institutions are main contributors to strong economies as growth opportunities in local communities in rural and urban areas involve the participation of a financial company. Paying attention to this study's findings could help credit union managers with assets under \$10 million to improve profitability and

increase growth opportunities in local communities, which could improve lives of families by providing economic prosperity and growth opportunities.

References

- Abdel-Razzaq, A. (2018). The determinants of Islamic banking profitability (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10833362)
- Abdullah, N. S., Indulska, M., & Sadiq, S. (2016). Compliance management ontology: A shared conceptualization for research and practice in compliance management. *Information Systems Frontiers*, *18*, 995-1020. doi:10.1007/s10796-016-9631-4
- Abosede, J. A., Fayose, J., & Eze, B. U. (2018). Corporate entrepreneurship and international performance of Nigerian Banks. *Journal of Economics & Management*, 32, 5-17. doi:10.22367/jem.2018.32.01
- Acharya, A., Prakash, A., Saxena, P., & Nigam, A. (2013). Sampling: Why and how of it? *Indian Journal of Medical Specialties*, *4*, 330-333. doi:10.7713/ijms.2013.0032
- Adams, R. M., & Gramlich, J. (2016). Where are all the new banks? The role of regulatory burden in new bank formation. *Review of Industrial Organization*, 48, 181-208. doi:10.1007/s11151-015-9499-3
- Admati, A. R. (2017). A skeptical view of financialized corporate governance. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *31*, 131-150. doi:10.1257/jep.31.3.131
- Aggarwal, R., & Ranganathan, P. (2017). Common pitfalls in statistical analysis: Linear regression analysis. *Perspectives in Clinical Research*, 8, 100-102. doi:10.4103/2229-3485.203040

- Ahmed, I., & Manab, N. A. (2016). Moderating effects of board equity ownership on the relationship between enterprise risk management, regulatory compliance and firm performance: Evidence from Nigeria. *International Journal of Economics, Management and Accounting, 24,* 163-187. Retrieved from http://journals.iium.edu
- Albert, M., & Kung'u, K. G. (2018). Agency banking and accessibility to financial services: A survey of commercial banks in the Northern Province of Rwanda. *International Journal of Innovative Research and Development*, *7*, 397-411. doi:10.24940/ijird/2018/v7/i7/JUL18118
- Allen, F., & Santomero, A. M. (1998). The theory of financial intermediation. *Journal of Banking and Finance*, 21, 1461-1485. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4266(97)00032-0
- Al-Shubiri, F. N., & Jamil, S. A. (2017). Assessing the determinants of interest rate spread of commercial banks in Oman: An Empirical Investigation. *European Research Studies*, 20, 90-108. Retrieved from https://ersj.eu/
- Alves, P., Couto, E. B., & Francisco, P. M. (2016). Executive pay and performance in Portuguese listed companies. *Research in International Business and Finance*, *37*, 184-195. doi:10.1016/j.ribaf.2015.11.006
- Ammar, A. A. (2017). Factors influencing intention to adopt mobile banking in Sudanese microfinance sector (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10975643)

- Andersen, S., Tolstrup, J. S., Rod, M. H., Ersbøll, A. K., Sørensen, B. B., Holmberg, T.,
 ... & Ingholt, L. (2015). Shaping the social: Design of a settings-based
 intervention study to improve well-being and reduce smoking and dropout in
 Danish vocational schools. *BMC Public Health*, 15, 1-10. doi:10.1186/s12889015-1936-6
- Andrieş, A. M. (2009). Theories regarding financial intermediation and financial intermediaries- A survey. *The USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration*, 9, 254-261. Retrieved from www.annals.seap.usv.ro
- Annaiyappa, P. V. (1991). A critical analysis of genetic algorithms for global optimization (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 9214701)
- Armor, D. J., Cotla, C. R., & Stratmann, T. (2017). Spurious relationships arising from aggregate variables in linear regression. *Quality & Quantity*, *51*, 1359-1379. doi:10.1007/s11135-016-0335-0
- Arya, R. (2016). Determination of customer perceived reliability indices for active distribution systems including omission of tolerable interruption durations employing bootstrapping. *IET Generation, Transmission & Distribution, 10,* 3795-3802. doi:10.1049/iet-gtd.2016.0198
- Aste, M., Boninsegna, M., Freno, A., & Trentin, E. (2015). Techniques for dealing with incomplete data: A tutorial and survey. *Pattern Analysis and Applications, 18*, 1-29. doi:10.1007/s10044-014-0411-9

- Ballaro, J. M., & Washington, E. R. (2016). The impact of organizational culture and perceived organizational support on successful use of electronic healthcare record (EHR). Organization Development Journal, 34, 11-29. Retrieved from https://isodc.org/
- Balseven, H. (2016). The political economy of financial regulation policies following the global crisis. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, *6*, 607-616. Retrieved from https://www.econjournals.com
- Banjanovic, E. S., & Osborne, J. W. (2016). Confidence intervals for effect sizes: Applying bootstrap resampling. *Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation,* 21, 1-20. Retrieved from http://pareonline.net/
- Baradwaj, B. G., Shao, Y., & Dewally, M. (2016). Institutions, capital control, and liquidity creation. *Journal of Financial Economic Policy*, *8*, 396-422. https://doi.org/10.1108/JFEP-11-2015-0073
- Baral, S. K. (2016). A study of financial performance of co-operative banks: Case of poovarany service co-operative bank of Kerala, India. *Splint International Journal of Professionals*, 3, 87-107. Retrieved from http://www.splintjournal.in/
- Barker, M. (2013). Finding audiences for our research: Rethinking the issue of ethical challenges. *Journal of the Communication Review*, 16, 70-80. doi:10.1080/10714421.2013.7575
- Batrinca, B., & Treleaven, P. C. (2015). Social media analytics: A survey of techniques, tools, and platforms. *AI & Society, 30*, 89-116. doi:10.1007/s00146-014-0549-4

- Behringer, B. A., Omohundro, E., Boswell, D., Evans, D., & Ferranti, L. B. (2014). The Tennessee Department of Health workshops on use of secondary data for Community Health Assessment, 2012. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 11, 1-8. doi:10.5888/pcd11.130206
- Berle, A. A., & Means, G. C. (1932). The modern corporation and private property. London, UK: Transaction Publishers.
- Bernstein, S. L., & Feldman, J. (2015). Original contribution: Incentives to participate in clinical trials: Practical and ethical considerations. *American Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 33, 1197-1200. doi:10.1016/j.ajem.2015.05.020
- Bevan, S., Baumgartner, F. R., Johnson, E. W., & McCarthy, J. D. (2013). Understanding selection bias, time lags and measurement bias in secondary data sources: Putting the encyclopedia of associations database in broader context. *Social Science Research*, 42, 1750-1764. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2013.08.003
- Boesch, I., Schwaninger, M., Weber, M., & Scholz, R. W. (2013). Enhancing validity and reliability through feedback-driven exploration: A study in the context of conjoint analysis. *Systems Practice Action Research*, 26, 217-238. doi:10.1007/s11213-012-9248-6
- Bondari, R. D. (2017). Revising the activity-based costing in the banks via the electronic banking development. *International Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *11*, 748-753. Retrieved from http://www.econ-society.org

Borgatti, S. P., & Molina, J.-L. (2005). Toward ethical guidelines for network research in

organizations. Social Networks, 27, 107-117. doi:10.1016/j.socnet.2005.01.004

- Bosco, F. A., Aguinis, H., Singh, K., Field, J. G., & Pierce, C. A. (2015). Correlational effect size benchmarks. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 431-449. doi:10.1037/a0038047
- Boyd, B. K., Bergh, D. D., Ireland, R. D., & Ketchen, D. J. (2013). Constructs in strategic management. Organizational Research Methods, 16, 3-14. doi:10.1177/1094428112471298
- Boyko, E. J. (2013). Observational research: Opportunities and limitations. *Journal of Diabetes and Its Complications*, *27*, 642-648. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.07.007
- Bro, R., & Smilde, A. K. (2014). Principal component analysis. *Analytical Methods*, *6*, 2812-2831. doi:10.1039/c3ay41907j
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). *Business research methods*. Oxford, United Kingdom: University Press.
- Butler, F. C., Martin, J. A., Perryman, A. A., & Upson, J. W. (2012). Examining the dimensionality, reliability, and construct validity of firm financial performance. *Strategic Management Review*, 6, 57-74.doi:10.4128/1930-4560-6.1.57
- Buyl, T., Boone, C., & Wade, J. B. (2017). CEO narcissism, risk-taking, and resilience:
 An empirical analysis in U.S. Commercial Banks. *Journal of Management*, 43, 1-29. doi:10.1177/0149206317699521

- Callao, M. P. (2014). Multivariate experimental design in environmental analysis. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, *62*, 86-92. doi:10.1016/j.trac.2014.07.009
- Calomiris, C. W. (2018). Restoring the rule of law in financial regulation. *Cato Journal, 38*, 701-719. Retrieved from https://www.cato.org

Campbell, R., & Morris, M. (2017). Complicating narratives: Defining and deconstructing ethical challenges in community Psychology. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 60, 491-501. doi:10.1002/ajcp.12177

- Caruth, G. D. (2013). Demystifying mixed methods research design: A review of the literature. *Mevlana International Journal of Education*, *3*, 112-122. doi:10.13054/mije.13.35.3.2
- Chakravarty, A., & Grewal, R. (2016). Analyst earning forecasts and advertising and
 R&D budgets: Role of agency theoretic monitoring and bonding costs. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 53, 580-596. doi:10.1509/jmr.14.0204
- Chang, C. H., Pal, N., & Lin, J.-J. (2017). A revisit to test the equality of variances of several populations. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 46, 6360-6384. doi:10.1080/03610918.2016.1202277
- Chaudhary, G. M., & Abbas, Z. (2017). Global financial crisis and its impact on efficiency and performance of commercial banks in Pakistan. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly; Antioch*, 8, 15-29. Retrieved from http://www.jbsq.org/?i=2
- Cheema, J. R. (2014). A review of missing data handling methods in education research. *Review of Educational Research, 84*, 487-508. doi:10.3102/0034654314532697

- Chen, L., Danbolt, J., & Holland, J. (2014). Rethinking bank business models: The role of intangibles. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 27*, 563-589. doi:10.1108/aaaj-11-2012-1153
- Chiu, T. (2017). Factors influencing microfinance engagements by formal financial institutions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 143, 565-587. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2811-1
- Christopoulos, T. P., & Gonzalez, L. (2017). Achieving family farmers' demands for microcredit through credit unions: A framework for discussion. *Revista De Administração Mackenzie, 18*, 116-143. doi:10.1590/1678-69712017
- Cohen, J., Cohen, P., West, S. G., & Aiken, L. S. (2013). Applied multiple regression/correlation analysis for the behavioral sciences. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Connelly, L. M. (2014). Ethical considerations in research studies. *Medsurg Nursing*, 23, 54-55. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Cook, T. D. (2015). Quasi-Experimental design. *Wiley Encyclopedia of Management,* 11,1-2. doi:10.1002/9781118785317.weom110227

Cornelissen, J. P. (2016). Preserving theoretical divergence in management research:
Why the explanatory potential of qualitative research should be harnessed rather than suppressed. *Journal of Management Studies*, *54*, 368-383.
doi:10.1111/joms.12210

- Credit Union National Association. (2016). *Regulatory Financial Impact Study*. Retrieved from https://www.cuna.org
- Curley, J., & Shaw, E. (1960). *Money in a theory of finance*. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution.
- Curtis, E. A., Comisky, C., & Dempsey, O. (2016). Importance and use of correlational research. *Nurse Researcher*, *23*(6), 20-25. doi:10.7748/nr.2016.e1382
- Cuza, A. I. (2009). Theories regarding financial intermediation and financial intermediaries: A survey. *The USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration*, 9, 254-261. Retrieved from http://www.annals.seap.usv.ro
- Cyree, K. B. (2016). The effects of regulatory compliance for small banks around crisisbased regulations: Effects of regulatory compliance. *Journal of Financial Research*, 39, 215-246. doi:10.1111/jfir.12096
- Darayseh, M., & Chazi, A. (2018). Bank specifics, economics environment, and agency theory: Determinants of banking performance in GCC. *The Journal of Developing Areas, 52*, 199-212. doi:10.1353/jda.2018.0060
- Dauda, S. Y., & Lee, J. (2016). Quality of service and customer satisfaction: A conjoint analysis for the Nigerian bank customers. *The International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 34, 841-867. doi:10.1108/IJBM-04-2015-0062
- Davis, B., & Martin, S. (1985). Economies of size in commercial banks: The Appalachian Kentucky experience. *The Kentucky Journal of Economics and Business, 5*, 24-30. Retrieved from http://cber.uky.edu/

Delost, M. E., & Nadder, T. S. (2014). Guidelines for initiating a research agenda:
Research design and dissemination of results. *Clinical Laboratory Science*, 27, 237-244. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/

Dey, R. K., Hossain, S. Z., & Rezaee, Z. (2018). Financial risk disclosure and financial attributes among publicly traded manufacturing companies: Evidence from Bangladesh. *Journal of Risk and Financial Management*, 11, 1-16. doi:10.3390/jrfm11030050

- Diamond, D. W. (1984). Financial intermediation and delegated monitoring, *Review of Economic Studies*, 51, 393-414. doi:10.2307/2297430
- Diamond, D. W., & Rajan, R. G. (2000). A theory of bank capital. *Journal of Finance*, *55*, 2431-2465. doi:10.3386/w7431
- Diemer, B. J. (2016). *The relationship between cultural intelligence and work outcomes* of expatriates in china (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3739453)
- Disatnik, D., & Sivan, L. (2016). The multicollinearity illusion in moderated regression analysis. *Marketing Letters*, *27*, 403-408. doi:10.1007/s11002-014-9339-5
- Dolan, T. E. (2015). Does the principle of informed consent apply to futures studies research? *Futures*, *71*, 114-121. doi:10.1016/j.futures.2014.09.002
- Domanović, V., Todorović, V., & Savović, S. (2018). Internal factors of bank profitability in the republic of Serbia. *Business and Economic Horizons*, *14*, 659-673. doi:10.15208/beh.2018.46

- Donaldson, L., & Davis, J. H. (1991). Stewardship theory or agency theory: CEO governance and shareholder returns. *Australian Journal of Management*, *16*, 49-64. doi:10.1177/031289629101600103
- Du, J., & Zhou, L. (2012). Improving financial data quality using ontologies. Decision Support Systems, 54, 76-86. doi:10.1016/j.dss.2012.04.016
- Ebrahim, S., Johnston, B. C., Akl, E. A., Mustafa, R. A., Sun, X., Walter, S. D., . . . & Guyatt, G. H. (2014). Addressing continuous data measured with different instruments for participants excluded from trial analysis: A guide for systematic reviewers. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *67*, 560-570.
 doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.11.014
- Eckford, R. D., & Barnett, D. L. (2016). Comparing paper-and-pencil and Internet survey methods conducted in a combat-deployed environment. *Military Psychology, 28*, 209-225. doi:10.1037/mil0000118
- Eckstein, A. (2015). Great Expectations: The peril of an expectations gap in proxy advisory firm regulation. *Delaware Journal of Corporate Law, 40*, 77-162. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2469158
- Einhorn, H. J., & Hogarth, R. M. (1986). Judging probable cause. *Psychological Bulletin*, *99*, 3-19. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.99.1.3
- Elliehausen, G. (1998). The cost of bank regulation: A Review of the evidence. *Federal Reserve Bulletin*, 84, 1-35. Retrieved from https://www.federalreserve.gov/
- Ely, D. (2014). Credit unions and risk. Journal of Regulatory Economics, 46, 80-111.

doi:10.1007/s11149-013-9241-8

- Emerson, R. W. (2015). Convenience sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling: How does sampling affect the validity of research? *Journal of Visual Impairment & Blindness, 109*, 164-168. doi:10.1177/0145482x1510900215
- Emmons, W. R., & Schmid, F. A. (1999). Credit unions and the common bond. *Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis Review*, 5, 1-24. doi:10.20955/r.81.41-64
- Engberg, S., & Berben, L. (2012). Selecting instruments: Reliability and validity considerations. *Journal of Wound Ostomy & Continence Nursing*, 39, 18-20. doi:10.1097/WON.0b013e3182400d7f
- Etikan, I., Musa, S. A., & Alkassim, R. S. (2015). Comparison of convenience sampling and purposive sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5, 1-4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11
- Eustache, A. (2017). A quantitative study on the cost impact of the Volcker Rule (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10638540)
- Faff, R. W., Gray, S., & Tan, K. J. K. (2016). A contemporary view of corporate finance theory, empirical evidence and practice. *Australian Journal of Management*, 41, 662-686. doi:10.1177/0312896216632032
- Fatima, A., Nazir, N., & Khan, M. G. (2017). Data cleaning in data warehouse: A survey of data pre-processing techniques and tools. *International Journal of Information Technology and Computer Science*, 9, 50-61. doi:10.5815/ijitcs.2017.03.06

- Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council. (2018). *About the FFIEC*. Retrieved from https://www.ffiec.gov
- Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc.
- Filatotchev, I., & Nakajima, C. (2014). Corporate governance, responsible managerial behavior, and CSR: Organizational efficiency versus organizational legitimacy? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, 28, 289-306. doi:10.5465/amp.2014.0014
- Filipowska, A., Kaczmarek, M., Kowalkiewicz, M., Zhou, X., & Born, M. (2009).
 Procedure and guidelines for evaluation of BPM methodologies. *Business Process Management Journal, 15*, 336-357. doi:10.1108/14637150910960594
- Frame, W. S., Karels, G. V., & McClatchey, C. (2002). The effect of the common bond and membership expansion on credit union risk. *The Financial Review*, 37, 613-636. doi:10.1111/1540-6288.00031
- Francis, M. E. (2013). Determinants of commercial bank profitability in sub-Saharan Africa. *International Journal of Economics and Finance*, 5, 134-147. Retrieved from http://ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ijef
- Fredriksson, A., Maresch, D., & Moro, A. (2017). Much ado about nothing? interest and non-interest products and services: Their impact on small banks' margins. *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 5, 1-14. doi:10.1080/23322039.2017.1339771
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report, 20*, 1408-1416. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/

- García-Meca, E., López-Iturriaga, F., & Tejerina-Gaite, F. (2017). Institutional investors on boards: Does their behavior influence corporate finance? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 146, 365-382. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2882-z
- Glogowska, M. (2011). Paradigms, pragmatism and possibilities: mixed-methods research in speech and language therapy. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 46, 251-260. doi:10.3109/13682822.2010.507614
- Gravetter, F., & Forzano, L. A. (2015). *Research methods for the behavioral sciences*. Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.
- Green, J. P., Tonidandel, S., & Cortina, J. M. (2016). Getting through the gate: Statistical and methodological issues raised in the reviewing process. *Organizational Research Methods*, 19, 402-432. doi:10.1177/1094428116631417
- Green, S. B., & Salkind, N. J. (2014). Using SPSS for Windows and Macintosh: Analyzing and understanding data (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson
- Groening, C., & Kanuri, V. K. (2018). Investor reactions to concurrent positive and negative stakeholder news. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 149, 833-856. doi:10.1007/s10551-016-3065-2
- Gugong, D., Kumai, B., & Bala, H. (2015). Equity formation and financial performance of listed deposits money banks in Nigeria. *European Journal of Accounting Auditing and Finance Research, 3*, 25-39. Retrieved from http://www.eajournals.org/

- Guttentag, J. M., & Lindsay, R. (1968). The uniqueness of commercial banks. *Journal of Political Economy*, 76, 991-1014. doi:10.1086/259464
- Halabí, C., & Lussier, R. (2014). A model for predicting small firm performance. Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development, 21, 4-25. doi:10.1108/jsbed-10-2013-0141
- Halbouni, S., Obeid, N., & Garbou, A. (2016). Corporate governance and information technology in fraud prevention and detection: Evidence from the UAE. *Managerial Auditing Journal*, *31*, 589-628. doi:10.1108/MAJ-02-2015-1163
- Hamann, P. M., Schiemann, F., Bellora, L., & Guenther, T. W. (2013). Exploring the dimensions of organizational performance: A construct validity study.
 Organizational Research Methods, 16, 67-87. doi:10.1177/1094428112470007
- Haron, R., & Nomran, N. M. (2016). Determinants of working capital management before, during, and after the global financial crisis of 2008: Evidence from Malaysia. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, *50*, 461-468. doi:10.1353/jda.2016.0029
- Harrell, F. (2015). Regression modeling strategies: With applications to linear models, logistic and ordinal regression, and survival analysis (2nd ed.). New York City, New York: Springer.
- Hashem, I. A. T., Yaqoob, I., Anuar, N. B., Mokhtar, S., Gani, A., & Khan, S. U. (2015).The rise of "big data" on cloud computing: Review and open research issues.*Information Systems*, 47, 98-115. doi:10.1016/j.is.2014.07.006

- Hassan, M. K., Brodmann, J., Rayfield, B., & Huda, M. (2018). Modeling credit risk in credit unions using survival analysis. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*, 36, 482-495. doi:10.1108/IJBM-05-2017-0091
- He, X., Lin, Z., & Wei, Y. (2016). International market selection and export performance: A transaction cost analysis. *European Journal of Marketing*, *50*, 916-941. doi:10.1108/EJM-02-2013-0083
- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2015). Validity and reliability in quantitative studies. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18, 66-67. doi:10.1136/eb-2015-102129
- Hedge, C., Powell, G., & Sumner, P. (2017). The reliability paradox: Why robust cognitive tasks do not produce reliable individual differences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 50, 1166-1189. doi:10.3758/s13428-017-0935-1
- Heron, D. (2015). Examining the relationship of lodging organization executive compensation and organizational financial performances relating to agency theory (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3714742)
- Hesamian, G. (2016). One-way ANOVA based on interval information. *International Journal of Systems Science*, 47, 2682-2690. doi:10.1080/00207721.2015.1014449
- Hilton, D. M. (1996). An investigation of credit union CEO incentive pay and its relationship to credit union CEO performance (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 9633574)

- Hopkins, L., & Ferguson, K. E. (2014). Looking forward: The role of multiple regression in family business research. *Journal of Family Business Strategy*, *5*, 52-62. doi:10.1016/j.jfbs.2014.01.008
- Hossain, M. D. (2015). Effect of deregulation and off-balance sheet activities on the xefficiency of U.S. credit unions (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 1598182)
- Huang, Y., Ozdenerol, E., & Sunderman, M. A. (2019). The value of greenways:
 Memphis shelby farms greenline as a case study. *Journal of Housing Research*, 28, 81-107. Retrieved from https://aresjournals.org
- Hussain, N., Rigoni, U., & Orij, R. P. (2018). Corporate governance and sustainability performance: Analysis of triple bottom line performance. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 149, 411-432. doi:10.1007/s10551-016-3099-5
- Ibrahim, Y., Ahmed, I., & Minai, M. S. (2018). The influence of institutional characteristics on financial performance of microfinance institutions in the oic countries. *Economics & Sociology*, 11, 19-35. doi:10.14254/2071-789X.2018/11-2/2
- Internal Revenue Service. (2018). Information for federal and state credit unions regarding automatic revocation of exemption. Retrieved from https://www.irs.gov
- Isaacs, A. N. (2014). An overview of qualitative research methodology for public health researchers. International Journal of Medicine & Public Health, 4, 318-323. doi:10.4103/2230-8598.144055

- Işik, Ö., & Belke, M. (2017). An empirical analysis of the determinants of net interest margins of Turkish Listed Banks: Panel data evidence from post-crisis era 1. *Sosyoekonomi, 25*, 227-245. doi:10.17233/sosyoekonomi.322057
- Iverson-Long, B. (2014). Community bankers concerned with regulation, non-bank competitors. *Idaho Business Review*, Retrieved from http://www.idahobusiness.net/
- Ives, A. R. (2015). For testing the significance of regression coefficients, go ahead and log-transform count data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6, 828-835. doi:10.1111/2041-210x.12386
- Jeong, Y., & Jung, M. J. (2016). Application and interpretation of hierarchical multiple regression. *Orthopaedic Nursing*, 35, 338-341. doi:10.1097/NOR.00000000000279
- Jiang, J., Aldewereld, H., Dignum, V., Wang, S., & Baida, Z. (2015). Regulatory compliance of business processes. AI & SOCIETY, 30, 393-402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00146-014-0536-9
- Johnson, J. (2015). Broadening the application of mixed methods in sales research. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management, 35*, 334-345.
 doi:10.1080/08853134.2015.1016953
- Johnston, M. P. (2014). Secondary data analysis: A method of which the time has come. *Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Libraries, 3*, 619-626. Retrieved from http://www.qqml.net/

- Joo, S. J., Stoeberl, P. A., Liao, K., & Ke, K. (2017). Measuring the comparative performance of branches of a credit union for internal benchmarking. *Benchmarking: An International Journal*, 24, 1663-1674. doi:10.1108/bij-03-2016-0029
- Kalu, U. I., Ambrose, N. O., & Augustine, J. M. (2018). Financial inclusion in the agricultural sector in Nigeria: An index of penetration. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 8, 35-44. Retrieved from https://www.econjournals.com/
- Kandola, D., Banner, D., O'Keefe-McCarthy, S., & Jassal, D. (2014). Sampling methods in cardiovascular nursing research: An overview. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing, 24*, 15-18. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
- Kenny, D. A. (1975). A quasi-experimental approach to assessing treatment effects in the nonequivalent control group design. *Psychological Bulletin, 82*, 345-362. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.82.3.345
- Kitching, J. (2016). Between vulnerable compliance and confident ignorance: Small employers, regulatory discovery practices and external support networks. *International Small Business Journal, 34*, 601-617.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615569325

- Klaassen, P., & van Eeghen, I. (2014). Analyzing bank performance: Linking ROE, ROA, and RAROC. Social Science Research Network, 1, 1-10. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2389443
- Kongara, V. S., & Punyasesudu, D. (2015). Forecasting the water vapour distribution over india using artificial neural networks. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Computer Engineering & Technology (IJARCET), 3*, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.ijircst.org
- Kratochwill, T. R., & Levin, J. R. (2014). Meta- and statistical analysis of single-case intervention research data: Quantitative gifts and a wish list. *Journal of School Psychology*, 52, 231-235. doi:10.1016/j.jsp.2014.01.003
- Lachmann, M., Trapp, I., & Trapp, R. (2017). Diversity and validity in positivist management accounting research - a longitudinal perspective over four decades.
 Management Accounting Research, 34, 42-58. doi:10.1016/j.mar.2016.07.002
- Lakens, D. (2013). Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science:
 A practical primer for *t*-tests and ANOVAs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 863-876.
 doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863
- Lamb, S. W., Harper, J. S., Minnis, W. C., & Yun-Fang, C. (2013). The determinates of a community bank's profitability. *Academy of Banking Studies Journal*, 12, 29-45. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/
- Lancaster, G. A. (2015). Pilot and feasibility studies come of age! *Pilot and Feasibility Studies*, *1*, 1-4. doi:10.1186/2055-5784-1-1

- Landrum, B., & Garza, G. (2015). Mending fences: Defining the domains and approaches of quantitative and qualitative research. *Qualitative Psychology*, *2*, 199-209. doi:10.1037/qup0000030
- Lee, S. P., & Isa, M. (2017). Determinants of bank margins in a dual banking system. Managerial Finance, 43, 630-645. doi:10.1108/MF-07-2016-0189
- Leon, A. C., Davis, L. L., & Kraemer, H. C. (2011). The role and interpretation of pilot studies in clinical research. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 45, 626-629. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.10.008
- Leventis, S., Dimitropoulos, P., & Owusu-Ansah, S. (2013). Corporate governance and accounting conservatism: Evidence from the banking industry. *Corporate Governance: An International Review*, 21, 264-286. doi:10.1111/corg.12015
- Lewis, G. (1975). *Fist-fights in the kitchen: Manners and methods in social research*. Santa Monica, CA: Goodyear Publishing Company, Inc.
- Leys, C., Ley, C., Klein, O., Bernard, P., & Licata, L. (2013). Detecting outliers: Do not use standard deviation around the mean, use absolute deviation around the median. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 49, 764-766. doi:10.1016/j.jesp.2013.03.013
- Li, T., Vedula, S. S., Hadar, N., Parkin, C., Lau, J., & Dickersin, K. (2015). Innovations in data collection, management, and archiving for systematic reviews. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 162, 287-294. doi:10.7326/m14-1603

- Li, X. (2018). *Chief executive officers' compensation and firms' performance in the U.S. banking industry* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10687441)
- Linder, K. E., Elek, E. D., & Calderon, L. (2014). SoTL and the institutional review board: Considerations before navigating the application process for classroom research in higher education. *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning, 14*, 1-14. doi:10.14434/josotl.v14i2.4217
- Logan, T. M. (2016). Determinants of profitability of financial institutions in Latin America and the Caribbean. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 50, 345-362. doi:10.1353/jda.2016.0168
- Lyon, P. R. (2016). Making the case for manager delegation of authority. *Human Resource Management International Digest, 24*(5), 1-3. doi:10.1108/HRMID-03-2016-0025
- Macfarlane, M. D., Kisely, S., Loi, S., Macfarlane, S., Merry, S., Parker, S., ... Looi, J.
 C. (2015). Getting started in research: Designing and preparing to conduct a research study. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 23, 12-15.
 doi:10.1177/1039856214562075

Madill, A. (2015). Qualitative research is not a paradigm: Commentary on Jackson (2013) and Landrum and Garza (2015). *Qualitative Psychology*, *2*, 214-220. doi:10.1037/qup0000032

- Magro, M. W. (2016). Examining the federal credit union model in the 21 Century (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10160168)
- Mahendru, M., & Bhatia, A. (2017). Cost, revenue and profit efficiency analysis of Indian Scheduled Commercial Banks. *International Journal of Law and Management*, 59, 442-462. doi:10.1108/IJLMA-01-2016-0008
- Malikov, E., Restrepo-Tobon, D. A., & Kumbhakar, S. C. (2018). Heterogeneous credit union production technologies with endogenous switching and correlated effects. *Econometric Reviews*, 37, 1095-1119. doi:10.1080/07474938.2016.1222234
- Martínez-Campillo, A., Fernández-Santos, Y., & María-del, P. S. (2018). How well have social economy financial institutions performed during the crisis period?
 Exploring financial and social efficiency in Spanish Credit Unions. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 151, 319-336. doi:10.1007/s10551-016-3192-9
- Maxfield, S., Wang, L., & Magaldi De Sousa, M. (2018). The effectiveness of bank governance reforms in the wake of the financial crisis: A stakeholder approach.
 Journal of Business Ethics, 150, 485-503. doi:10.1007/s10551-016-3116-8
- McKee, G., & Kagan, A. (2016). Determinants of recent structural change for small asset
 U.S. credit unions. *Review of Quantitative Finance & Accounting*, 47, 775-795.
 doi:10.1007/s11156-015-0520-6
- McKenzie, D., & Woodruff, C. (2014). What are we learning from business training and entrepreneurship evaluations around the developing world? *The World Bank Research Observer*, 29, 48-82. doi:10.1093/wbro/lkt007
- McKillop, D. G., & Wilson, J. O. S. (2015). Credit unions as cooperative institutions:
 Distinctiveness, performance and prospects. *Social and Environmental Accountability Journal*, 35, 96-112. doi:10.1080/0969160x.2015.1022195
- Merton, R. C. (1995). A functional perspective of financial intermediation. *Financial Management*, 24, 23-41. doi:10.2307/3665532
- Mgboji, E. U. (2019). A quantitative analysis of bank failures in the united states:
 Predicting the duration and culmination of financial crisis (Doctoral dissertation).
 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 13806888)
- Molnar, J. (2018). What does financial intermediation theory tell us about
 Fintechs? *Vezetéstudomány Budapest Management Review*, 49, 38-46.
 doi:10.14267/VEZTUD.2018.05.04
- Moon, C. (2015). The (un)changing role of the researcher. *International Journal of Market Research*, 57, 15-16. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2015-002

Moore, G. (2014). Relationship between chief executive officer compensation and firm performance for U.S. health insurance companies (Doctoral dissertation).
 Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3617632)

Morse, J. M., Barrett, M., Mayan, M., Olson, K., & Spiers, J. (2002). Verification

strategies for establishing reliability and validity in qualitative research.

International Journal of Qualitative Methods, 1, 13-22.

doi:10.1177/160940690200100202

- Mukhina, A. (2017). A model of internal audit in the company management system. *Journal of Advanced Resein Law and Economics*, *1*, 128-143.
 doi:10.14505/jarle.v8.1
- My Credit Union. (2018). *Historical timeline of credit unions*. Retrieved from http://www.mycreditunion.gov
- National Credit Union Administration. (2017). *Recall report*. Retrieved from http://www.ncua.gov
- National Credit Union Administration. (2018). *A brief history of credit unions*. Retrieved from http://www.ncua.gov
- Ned, J. P. (2017). Essays on the unintended consequences of banking regulation (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10606660)
- Nega, F. T. (2017). The relationship between financial performance, firm size, leverage and corporate social responsibility (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10688989)
- Newman, I., Hitchcock, J. H., & Newman, D. (2015). The use of research syntheses and nomological networks to develop HRD theory. *Advances in Developing Human Resources, 17*, 117-134. doi:10.1177/1523422314559810

- Nkwake, A. M., & Morrow, N. (2016). Clarifying concepts and categories of assumptions for use in evaluation. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 59, 97-101. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2016.05.014
- Nuzzo, R. L. (2016). Statistical power. *PM&R*, *8*, 907-912. doi:10.1016/j.pmrj.2016.08.004
- Obafemi, F. N. (2012). The Technical Efficiency of Nigerian Banks. *Asian Economic and Financial Review, 2*, 407-420. Retrieved from https://econpapers.repec.org/
- Oberholzer, M., & Barnard, J. (2015). Questioning the context of corporate performance measures in benchmarking CEO compensation. *Corporate Ownership & Control,* 13, 945-957. doi:10.22495/cocv13i1c8p12
- Oliver, A. (2013). From nudging to budging: Using behavioral economics to inform public Sector Policy. *Journal of Social Policy*, *42*, 685-700. doi:10.1017/s0047279413000299
- Orcher, L. T. (2014). Conducting research: Social and behavioral methods (2nd ed.). Glendale, CA: Pyrczak Publishing.
- Orumwense, N. E. (2018). *Correlates of job satisfaction among bank employees in Nigeria* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10981117)
- Osborne, J. W. (2012). *Best practices in data cleaning: A complete guide to everything you need to do before and after collecting your data*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.

- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. doi:10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS (6th ed.). Maidenhead, UK: Open University Press/McGraw-Hill Education.
- Papoutsi, Z. M. (2018). Essays in empirical corporate finance and banking (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3373791)
- Parker, L. D. (2012). Qualitative management accounting research: Assessing deliverables and relevance. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, 23, 54-70. doi:10.1016/j.cpa.2011.06.002
- Patterson, P. D., Weaver, M. D., Fabio, A., Teasley, E. M., Renn, M. L., Curtis, B. R., ...
 Higgins, J. S. (2018). Reliability and validity of survey instruments to measure
 work-related fatigue in the emergency medical services setting: A systematic
 review. *Prehospital Emergency Care, 22*, 17-27.
 doi:10.1080/10903127.2017.1376134
- Pavlovskaya, M., & Eletto, R. (2018). Credit unions, class, race, and place in New York City. *Geoforum*. 15, 1-24. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2018.05.020

- Peterson, R. A., & Merunka, D. R. (2014). Convenience samples of college students and research reproducibility. *Journal of BusinessResearch*,67,1035-1041. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2013.08.010
- Pistoresi, B., & Venturelli, V. (2015). Credit, venture capital and regional economic growth. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, 39, 742-761. doi:10.1007/s12197-013-9277-8
- Ploug, T., & Holm, S. (2015). Doctors, patients, and nudging in the clinical context--Four views on nudging and informed consent. *The American Journal of Bioethics*, 15, 28-38. doi:10.1080/15265161.2015.1074303
- Prager, J. (2014). The financial crisis of 2007/8: Misaligned incentives, bank mismanagement, and troubling policy implications. *Economics, Management, and Financial Markets*, 9, 11-56. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2094662
- Psaradakis, Z., & Vávra, M. (2018). Normality tests for dependent data: large-sample and bootstrap approaches. *Communications in Statistics - Simulation and Computation*, 47, 1-22. doi:10.1080/03610918.2018.1485941
- Rahman, M. M., Ashraf, B. N., Zheng, C., & Begum, M. (2017). Impact of cost efficiency on bank capital and the cost of financial intermediation: Evidence from BRICS Countries. *International Journal of Financial Studies*, *5*, 1-18. doi:10.3390/ijfs5040032
- Re, P., & Giachino, C. (2018). CSR in small and medium companies and stakeholder's relationships. *Symphonya*, 1, 76-90. doi:10.4468/2018.L06re.giachino

- Reddy, S. K., & Babu, S. A. (2018). Announcement of payment banks and stock performance of commercial banks in India. *Journal of Internet Banking and Commerce, 23*, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.icommercecentral.com/
- Reyes Liske, J. M., & Holladay, C. L. (2016). Evaluating coaching's effect:
 Competencies, career mobility and retention. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 37, 936-948. doi:10.1108/LODJ-12-2014-0244
- Rezaee, Z., Zhang, H., Dou, H., & Gao, M. (2018). Corporate governance and earnings quality: Evidence from China. *IUP Journal of Corporate Governance*, 17, 7-35. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/
- Romānova, I., Grima, S., Spiteri, J., & Kudinska, M. (2018). The payment services
 directive II and competitiveness: The perspective of European Fintech
 Companies. *European Research Studies*, 21, 3-22. Retrieved from https://ersj.eu/
- Rucker, D. D., McShane, B. B., & Preacher, K. J. (2015). A researcher's guide to regression, discretization, and median splits of continuous variables. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 25, 666-678. doi:10.1016/j.jcps.2015.04.004
- Said, A. (2018). Effect of the asset quality on the bank profitability: A study of US Commercial Small Banks. *International Research Journal of Applied Finance*, 9, 196-204. Retrieved from https://www.irjaf.com/
- Samaha, K., & Khlif, H. (2016). Adoption of and compliance with IFRS in developing countries: A synthesis of theories and directions for future research. *Journal of Accounting in Emerging Economies*, 6, 33-49. doi:10.1108/jaee-02-2013-0011

- Schenker, J. D., & Rumrill, J. P. D. (2004). Causal-comparative research designs. *Journal of Vocational Rehabilitation*, 21, 117-121. Retrieved from https://www.iospress.nl/
- Schrodt, P. A. (2014). Seven deadly sins of contemporary quantitative political analysis. *Journal of Peace Research*, *51*(2), 287-300. doi:10.1177/0022343313499597

Seng, T. B. (2016). Accounting research for the management accounting profession. Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research, 14, 69-77. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2596971

- Sillabutra, J., Kitidamrongsuk, P., Viwatwonkkasem, C., Ujeh, C., Sae-tang, S., & Donjdee, K. (2016). Bootstrapping with R to make generalized inference for regression model. *Procedia Computer Science*, *86*, 228-231. doi:10.1016/j.procs.2016.05.103
- Simon, C. M., Klein, D. W., & Schartz, H. A. (2014). Traditional and electronic informed consent for biobanking: A survey of U.S. biobanks. *Biopreservation and Biobanking*, 12, 423-429. doi:10.1089/bio.2014.0045
- Simpson, S. D. (2017). Effect of 2007-2009 economic crisis and dodd-frank legislation on the U.S. banking industry (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10254804)
- Sims, J. M. (2010). A brief review of the Belmont Report: *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *29*, 173-174. doi:10.1097/DCC.0b013e3181de9ec5

- Slater, S., Joksimovic, S., Kovanovic, V., Baker, R. S., & Gasevic, D. (2017). Tools for educational data mining: A review. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 42, 85-106. doi:10.3102/1076998616666808
- Solomon, B., Howard, T., & Stein, B. (2015). Critical assumptions and distribution features pertaining to contemporary single-case effect sizes. *Journal of Behavioral Education, 24*, 438-458. doi:10.1007/s10864-015-9221-4
- Southam-Gerow, M. A., & Dorsey, S. (2014). Qualitative and mixed methods research in dissemination and implementation science: Introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Clinical Child & Adolescent Psychology*, 43, 845-850.
 doi:10.1080/15374416.2014.930690
- Spence, M. (1973). Job market signaling. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 87, 355-374. doi:10.2307/1882010
- Sproull, N. L. (1988). *Handbook of research methods: A guide for practitioners and students in the social sciences*. Metuchen, NJ: The Scarecrow Press.
- Syntetos, A. A., Babai, M. Z., & Gardner, E. S. (2015). Forecasting intermittent inventory demands: Simple parametric methods vs. bootstrapping. *Journal of Business Research*, 68, 1746-1752. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2015.03.034
- Tabachnick, B., & Fidell, L. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education.
- Tarlow, K. R. (2016). Teaching principles of inference with ANOVA. *Teaching Statistics*, *38*, 16-21. doi:10.1111/test.12085

- Tasic, S., & Feruh, M. B. (2012). Errors and issues in secondary data used in marketing research. *The Scientific Journal for Theory and Practice of Socioeconomic Development*, 1, 326-335. Retrieved from http://www.socioeconomica.net/
- Taylor, J., & Spurlock, D. (2018). Statistical power in nursing education research.*Journal of Nursing Education*, 57, 262-264. doi:10.3928/01484834-20180420-02
- Tehrani, S. Z. (2016). Optimising the service productivity with operational strategic options (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10748730)
- Temelkov, Z. (2018). Fintech firms opportunity or threat for banks? International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 10, 137-143. Retrieved from https://ijibm.elitehall.com/
- Temtime, Z. T. (2016). *Relationship between working capital management, policies, and profitability of small manufacturing firms* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from
 ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10017861)
- Toews, B. J. (2015). Differences in financial performance and risk tolerance at faithbased credit unions (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest
 Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3737775)
- Tokle, R., & Tocher, N. (2016). Credit union's office operating expense ratio? *Journal of Critical Incidents*, 9, 82-84. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/

- Tomczak, M., & Tomczak, E. (2014). The need to report effect size estimates revisited. An overview of some recommended measures of effect size. *Trends in Sport Sciences*, 21, 19-25. Retrieved from http://www.tss.awf.poznan.pl/
- Tshipa, J., Brümmer, L., Wolmarans, H., & Du-Toit, E. (2018). Corporate governance and financial performance in the midst of exogenous shocks: A study of companies listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. *Management Dynamics*, 27, 20-38. Retrieved from https://journals.co.za/
- Tuya, T. (2017). Improving costing methodology based on commercial bank restructuring. *Management Review: An International Journal*, 12, 24-42. Retrieved from https://www.questia.com/
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services (2016). *Belmont Report*. Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov
- van Dalsem, S. A. (2017). Uninsured deposits and excess share insurance at US credit unions: The impact on risk and returns to members. *Journal of Economics and Finance*, *41*, 714-738. doi:10.1007/s12197-016-9376-4
- van Rijn, J. (2018). *Essays on gender, prosocial behavior and financial cooperatives* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 13424083)
- Vanni, D. (2017). The role of compliance in Italian banking system. *Journal of Financial Crime, 24*, 143-147. doi:10.1108/jfc-04-2016-0025

van Rijn, J. (2018). The effect of membership expansion on credit union risk and returns.

St. Louis: Federal Reserve Bank of St Louis. Retrieved from https://www.stlouisfed.org/

- Varble, D., & Young, J. A. (2017). River Federal Credit Union: The need for growth. *Journal of Critical Incidents*, 10, 109-112. Retrieved from https://sfcr.org/jci/
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative Divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37, 21-54. doi:10.25300/misq/2013/37.1.02
- Wall, J. D., Lowry, P. B., & Barlow, J. B. (2016). Organizational violations of externally governed privacy and security rules: Explaining and predicting selective violations under conditions of strain and excess. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 17, 39-76. doi:10.17705/1jais.00420
- Walum, H., Waldman, I. D., & Young, L. J. (2016). Statistical and methodological considerations for the interpretation of intranasal oxytocin studies. *Biological Psychiatry*, 79, 251-257. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.06.016
- Wan-Ibrahim, W. H., & Ismail, A. G. (2015). Conventional bank and Islamic banking as institutions: Similarities and differences. *Humanomics*, *31*, 272-298. https://doi.org/10.1108/H-09-2013-0056
- Warriner, A. H., Foster, P. J., Mudano, A., Wright, N. C., Melton, M. E., Sattui, S. E., ...
 & Saag, K. G. (2016). A pragmatic randomized trial comparing tablet computer informed consent to traditional paper-based methods for an osteoporosis study.

Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications, 3, 32-38.

doi:10.1016/j.conctc.2016.02.003

- Watse, D. U. (2017). Sources of financing for small and medium enterprises in Nigeria (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 10689798)
- Weaver, B., & Maxwell, H. (2014). Exploratory factor analysis and reliability analysis with missing data: A simple method for SPSS users. *Quantitative Methods for Psychology*, 10, 143-152. doi:10.5861/ijrse.2014.771
- Werner, R. A. (2016). A lost century in economics: Three theories of banking and the conclusive evidence. *International Review of Financial Analysis*, 46, 361-379. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.irfa.2015.08.014
- Williams, C. (2007). Research methods. Journal of Business & Economics Research (JBER), 5, 65-72. doi:10.19030/jber.v5i3.2532
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012).
 Methodological reporting in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods health services research articles. *Health Services Research*, 47, 721-745.
 doi:10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344.x
- Witman, P. D. (2018). "What Gets Measured, Gets Managed" The Wells Fargo Account Opening Scandal. *Journal of Information Systems Education; West Lafayette*, 29, 131-138. Retrieved from http://proc.iscap.info/

- Wohlin, C., & Aurum, A. (2015). Towards a decision-making structure for selecting a research design in empirical software engineering. *Empirical Software Engineering*, 20, 1427-1455. doi:10.1007/s10664-014-9319-7
- Yilmaz, K. (2013). Comparison of quantitative and qualitative research traditions: Epistemological, theoretical, and methodological differences. *European Journal* of Education, 48, 311-325. doi:10.1111/ejed.12014
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: *Design and methods* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: SAGE.
- Younus, S., & Akhtaruzzaman, M. (2017). Determinants of the spread of bank interests in Bangladesh. *The Journal of Developing Areas*, *51*, 179-191. doi:10.1353/jda.2017.0096
- Yu, Y. (2015). Relationship investment and reciprocity: An empirical investigation. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 30, 637-647. doi.10.1108/jbim-11-2013-0246
- Yusuf, M., & Surjaatmadja, S. (2018). Analysis of financial performance on profitability with nonperformance financing as variable moderation. *International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues*, 8, 126-132. Retrieved from https://www.econjournals.com/

Zellmer-Bruhn, M., Caligiuri, P., & Thomas, D. C. (2016). From the editors: Experimental designs in international business research. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 47, 399-407. doi:10.1057/jibs.2016.12

- Zerbini, F. (2017). CSR initiatives as market signals: A review and research agenda. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *146*, 1-23. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2922-8
- Zheng, C., Sarker, N., & Nahar, S. (2018). Factors affecting bank credit risk: An empirical insight. *Journal of Applied Finance and Banking*, 8, 45-67. Retrieved from https://www.scienpress.com/
- Zogning, F. (2017). Comparing financial systems around the world: Capital markets, legal systems, and governance regimes. *Economics, Management and Financial Markets*, 12, 43-58. doi:10.22381/EMFM12420172
- Zvizdojević, J., & Vukotić, M. (2015). Application of statistical methods in analysis of agriculture-correlation and regression analysis. *Agriculture & Forestry / Poljoprivreda I Sumarstvo, 61*, 309-324. doi:10.17707/AgricultForest.61.1.38

Appendix A: Determining the Sample Size

When using G*Power version 3.1.9 to compute the sample size, I used the following values to calculate the sample size α =0.05; power level(1- β) = 0.80; anticipated effect size =0.2. Based on using the mentioned values, the minimum sample size calculated by the G*Power was 42.



T		T
Input:	Tail(s)	= Two
	Effect size f ²	= 0.2
	α err prob	= 0.05
	Power (1-β err prob)	= 0.80
	Number of predictors	= 2
Output:	Noncentrality parameter δ	= 2.8982753
	Critical t	= 2.0226909
	Df	= 39
	Total sample size	= 42
	Actual power	= 0.8068316